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N E W S  F R O M  T H E  M U S E U M  
D R .  H A N N O  L O E W Y  

NEW EXHIBITION UNDERWAY 
The renovation of the Museum 
and the construction of the 
new core exhibition are under 
way.  
 
On December 24 , 2006 , the 
Museum closed temporarily 
and work began for the instal-
lation of new exhibition facili-
ties and technica l equipment 
for audio and video presenta-
tions.   These facilities will al-
low a more professional con-
duct of the activities and 
events at the Museum – and a 
new permanent exhibition that 
presents the richness of 
Hohenems’ Jewish history and 
culture in a fresh and thought 
provoking way. 
 
The celebration of the reopen-

ing has been scheduled for 
Sunday, April 29 , 2007 , and 
will be attended by the Gover-
nor of Vorarlberg, Herbert 
Sausgruber, and representa-
tives of the Austrian and Swiss 
Jewish communities and other 
government officia ls. After that 
date, the Museum will be open 
for visitors once again. 
 
FUNDRAISING CONTINUES 
This ambitious project will en-
able the Museum to confront 
the cha llenges of the future, 
but its success relies heavily 
on the generosity of numerous 
friends, donors and sponsors 
such as the American Friends. 
T h e  J e w i s h  M u s e u m 
Hohenems is part icu l arly 
grateful for your support. 
 

The list of donors and spon-
sors from Europe include 
prominent companies such as 
Siemens Austria, Zumtobel 
Lighting, Collini and Otten Re-
a lty, the Dornbirn Sparkasse 
Bank and the Vorarlberg 
Power Station, as we ll as lead-
ing foundations such as the 
Hanadiv Charitable Founda-
tion in London, the Ars Rhenia 
in Liechtenstein, the National 
Fund for Victims of Nationa l-
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Renee Rollin Family Charitable 
Foundation. 
 
I want to thank everyone who 
so generously contributed to 
our successful fundra ising 
campa ign. We could not have 
done it without you!  It is obvi-
ous to me that our members 
are willing to “step up to the 
plate” when necessary to sup-
port important initiatives at the 
museum. 

 
Other ma jor contributors to this 
huge project include the City of 
Hohenems, the State of Vora l-
berg, the Austrian federa l gov-
ernment, the Association of the 
Jewish Museum Hohenems, 
foundations like the Nationa l-
Fund for Nazi Victims in Vienna , 
as well as a large number of 
companies, industria lists and 
civic organizations.  

 

 The Museum staff is now 
hard at work developing and 
installing the new permanent 
exhibition for the museum.  It 
is a tremendous undertaking, 
masterfully led by Museum 
Director, Dr. Hanno Loewy. 

 
In order to facilitate the insta l-
lation of the new permanent 
exhibition, the Museum will 
be closed from December 24, 
2006 to April 29 , 2007 . 

 
Thanks aga in for your contin-
ued support of the American 
Friends and the Jewish Mu-
seum in Hohenems.  I hope 
you and your family had lots 
of fun during the  holiday sea-
son.          

 
All the best to you and yours! 
 

Claude Rollin 

A LE T T E R F RO M T H E PR E S I D E N T 
C L A U D E  R O L L I N ,  E S Q .  

Dear Friends, 
 
I am pleased to report that our 
fundra ising efforts to support 
the new permanent exhibition 
at the Jewish Museum in 
Hohenems pa id off hand-
somely! 
 
We ra ised a total of $18 ,140 
(in U.S. dollars) for the perma-
nent exhibition project during 
the year.  This amount includes 
$10 ,640 contributed by individ-
ua l members of our organiza-
tion plus $7 ,500 in matching 
funds from the Stephan & 



Philharmonic of Nations, to-
gether with well-known violinist 
Jozsef Lendva i, for a fundrais-
ing concert in Vaduz to be he ld 
on January 29 , 2007 .  Yad 
Vashem in Jerusa lem and the 
Jewish Museum Hohenems will 
share the proceeds from this 
anticipated event. 
 
In order to complete the pro-
ject, the Museum is trying to 
ra ise an additiona l 50 .000€.  
Donations are still more than 
we lcome, and will be given 
credit as described in the News 
from the Museum article in the 
July 2006 issue of In Touch, 
whether given directly to the 
Museum or contributed to 
AFJMH (tax deductible for US 
taxpayers). 
 
INTERNATIONAL EDUCATION 
WORKSHOP IN       DECEM-
BER 2006  The education de-
partment of the Museum, led 
by Helmut Schlatter, invited 
thirty educators from different 
Jewish museums and other 
institutions fostering tolerance 
and integration in Europe to a 
workshop on “Diaspora and 
Migration.” The workshop af-
forded the opportunity for in-
tensive discussions about the 
Museum’s future programs for 
school and adult groups. These 
programs are designed to 
bridge Jewish history with con-
temporary issues of globa liza-
tion- issues ra ised by many 
visitors to Jewish museums 
today. 
 
FAREWELL TO THE OLD EXHI-
BITION  Although most of our 
efforts are directed towards the 
Museum’s future, the old core 
exhibition received a proper 
farewe ll at this year’s “Long 
Museum’s Night” on October 7 . 
Ce lebrating the 20 th anniver-
sary of the Jewish Museum 
association and the 15 th anni-
versary of the Museum’s open-
ing in 1991 , the Museum wel-
comed more than 650 guests 
that night. The program in-
cluded a photographic display 
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Socia lism in Vienna, the Bragin-
sky Foundation in Zurich, the 
Adolf and Mary Mil Foundation 
in Zurich and the Kahane Foun-
dation in Ce lerina . 
 
Together with various partners, 
the Museum has organized sev-
era l successfu l fundra ising 
events. 
 
On November 23 , 2006 , fifty 
friends of the Museum at-
tended a fundraising dinner 
hosted by the Museum Associa-
tion (Förderverein) in the Sa lo-
mon Sulzer Auditorium in the 
former Hohenems Synagogue.  
The guests were given a demon-
stration of the planned audio 
guide insta llations for the Mu-
seum, by singer Sandra Kreisler 
and writer Michael Köhlmeier, 
with readings from persona l 
documents and memories that 
will form a significant compo-
nent of the future exhibition.  
More than 30 donors have com-
mitted 500€ each to enable the 
Museum to acquire the per-
sona l audio guides that will be 
made ava ilable to visitors to the 
Museum. 
 
On November 30 , the Genera l 
Consul of Austria , Dr. Bettina 
Kirnbauer hosted a fundra ising 
dinner in Zurich, attended by 
Austrian Ambassador Aure l 
Saupe and his wife, and severa l 
friends of the Jewish Museum 
Hohenems in Swi tzer l and . 
Charles Ritterband, the Vienna 
correspondent of the Neue Zür-
cher Zeitung, the main newspa-
per of Switzerland – and him-
se lf a descendant of Jewish 
families from Hohenems – 
spoke about the significance of 
the Museum in the heart of 
Europe, building bridges be-
tween Jews and non-Jews in 
Switzerland, Austria and Ger-
many.  About 30 .000 Swiss 
Franc were ra ised that very eve-
ning for the Museum. 
F ina l ly , the L i e c h t ens t e in 
friends of Yad Vashem have 
invited Justus Frantz and the 

VIVID MEMORY  An integra l 
part of the new exhibition will 
be interactive video terminals 
and audios, presenting inter-
views with Hohenems de-
scendants, expressing their 
varied views on history and 
contemporary issues, inter-
views with refugees from Vi-
enna who fled Austria to Swit-
zerland through Hohenems in 
1938 , and interviews with 
orthodox Jews who had been 
Displaced Persons living in 
Hohenems and Bregenz be-
tween 1945 and 1954 . This 
will enable us to present vivid 
memories and statements 
that still reflect on crucia l 
issues today, in a powerful 
message to our visitors. This 
is a project not to be termi-
nated with the reopening of 
the Museum, but to be con-
tinued in the future. Just re-
cently the Museum was able 
to acquire 28 video inter-
views from Steven Spiel-
berg’s Shoah Foundation, 
which present memories of 
Hohenems and Vorarlberg 
during the years between 
1938 and 1950 . ! 
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of the Museum’s past projects 
and exhibitions, offered read-
ings and concerts, as well as a 
discussion and an opportunity 
to take the dance floor. 
 
N E W  C O N T A C T S  T O 
H O H E N E M S  F A M I L I E S  
Thanks to the great effort of 
archivist Eva-Maria Hesche, the 
Museum has est ab l ished 
bonds with newly discovered 
descendants in recent months, 
such as the Litt (Menz) family 
in New York and the Weyl 
(Burgauer-Schwarz) family in 
Germany. This growing re-
source of contacts will enable 
the Museum to broaden our 
relationship with the living com-
munity of Hohenems families 
and help us to prepare for the 
upcoming Reunion in 2008 . 
 
NEW ARCHIVES AND EXHIB-
ITS  The collection of archives, 
loans and exhibits of the Mu-
seum is ever growing; new gifts 
include precious artifacts such 
as the watch that Harry Weil 
kept in memory of his participa-
tion for Austria in World War I; 
the “Dienstbüchlein” (book of 
military service) that Adolf Bur-
gauer, the first Jew granted 
citizenship in St. Ga llen, kept of 
his Army service in Switzerland; 
severa l objects documenting 
the activities in Southern Tyrol 
of members of the Schwarz 
family, who developed tourism, 
ra ilways, cable cars and brew-
eries; and religious artifacts 
such as a Chanukah chandelier 
so ld to Jewish DP’s in 
Hohenems after 1945 , and  a 
Torah binder from Innsbruck. 
 
Professor Thomas Albrich from 
Innsbruck University and Eva-
Maria Hesche organized a 
workshop for students in the 
Museum, encouraging students 
to do research on severa l 
Hohenems family histories.   
We hope this research will im-
prove our knowledge about 
many aspects of Hohenems 
history. 
 

N E W S  F R O M  T H E  M U S E U M  

Gerhard La-
cha , who re-
cently has un-
der taken a 
number of res-
torat ions in 
Hohenems, including the 
Synagogue and the Elkan 
House, has just purchased 
the building which, commenc-
ing in 1851 , housed the Jew-
ish School . He is seeking 
investors for a total of 
400 ,000 Euros to restore the 
building. Should you think 
you might be interested in 
this project, please contact 
him directly by ema il at:  
lacha .f inanz@rea l-partner.a t 
! 

A  N E W  
B E G I N N I N G  F O R  
T H E  O L D  S C H O O L  
H O U S E   



Contributions to the American Friends of the Jewish Museum Hohenems for the Permanent Exhibition have now reached $18 ,140 .00 .  
This includes $7 ,500 from the Stephan and Renee Rollin Foundation, as well as contributions by many others: 
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N E W S  F R O M  T H E  M U S E U M  CO N T R I BU TI ON S TOWA R D S PE R M A N E N T 
EX HI B I T I ON 

William Mendelsohn (as his 
name appears in his military 
record) was born Wilhe lm Men-
delsohn, 7 October 1834 in 
Hohenems.  It was thought by 
some of his descendants that 
he was part of the famous fam-
ily descended from Moses 
Mendelssohn, the brilliant phi-
losopher credited with being 
the emancipator of Prussian 
Jews of his generation (during 
the reign of Frederick The 
Great of Prussia) and a cousin 
to Felix and Fanny Mendels-
sohn-Bartholdy.  I found that 
the only members of that family 
having a son named Wilhelm in 
the time-frame of the 1830-35 
period were Alexander and 

Marianne (Se ligmann) Men-
delssohn.  Alexander was son 
to Joseph, the senior partner 
of the wea lthy banking firm of 
Joseph and Abraham Men-
delssohn, the elder sons of 
Moses.  Alexander was also a 
banker, having followed his 
father into the management 
of the banking firm, and was a 
man of considerable wealth.  
It has a lways seemed to me 
that his e ldest son would have 
been brought up in rather 
well-privileged circumstances 
which would have led to 
memories of a childhood 
which was unlikely to have 
included such things as the 
game of “Kick-the-Mayor”, 

which he recounted to me as 
we were wa lking past a va-
cant lot in which a group of 
kids were playing kick-the-
can   (like hockey) near his 
home in Lomita, a suburb of 
Los Ange les, Ca lifornia.  He 
described the game to me as 
having been played with a 
sma ll bundle of rags instead 
of a tin can and with a slightly 
different set of rules.  The 
object was to see which team 
could capture and surround 
the Mayor (bundle) and kick it 
to pieces before the other 
team could rescue it in order 
to have the privilege them-
se lves. He a lso described the 
community in terms that indi-

cated it was a much more 
rura l scene than that which 
would be encountered in the 
environs of Berlin, where his 
supposed father, Alexander, 
must have lived. 
 
For this and other reasons, 
including the pursuit of truth, 
in 1994 I took my beloved 
wife to Europe where we vis-
ited Hohenems, going to the 
city offices at the Rathaus 
Hohenems for information.  
There we were treated with 
the utmost courtesy and co-
operation.  An English-
speak ing c lerk , Barbara 
Burtscher, was appointed to 

(Continued on page 4) 
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(Continued from page 3) 
conduct us to the site of the 
house where Wilhelm was 
born.  She a lso shared a deli-
cious luncheon with us at one 
of the good loca l restaurants.  
She obta ined a key to the Jew-
ish cemetery so we could 
spend some time there search-
ing for ancestra l graves.  She 
informed us that we had an 
appointment to visit the Burger-
meister, who spent an hour 
with us, shared by the compiler 
of a book entitled “Hohenems 
Kultur.”  Barbara bought and 
gave us a copy of this beauti-
fully illustrated volume, which 
is treasured by us even though 
it is very difficult for us to read 
because it is written in 
Deutsch. Barbara a lso directed 
us to the Judisches Museum, 
where Johannes Inama placed 
a ll of his facilities at our con-
venience, furnished us with 
every bit of genea logic informa-
tion quickly ava ilable and has 
ma iled us more materia l, which 
now forms an important part of 
my genea logic records.  We 
were not a llowed to pay for any 
of the costs and we were 
treated with the utmost kind-
ness at every turn. The data we 
were provided clearly indicates 
that Wilhe lm’s ancestry was 
indeed very different from that 
which we were led to accept.  
The fact that he had a deep 
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love for plants and the land and 
became a Nebraska farmer who 
ra ised his family to appreciate 
the simple sorts of things he 
va lued are more in keeping with 
a humble origin that the sophis-
tication more like ly in a 
banker’s son. 
 
He told me that he came to 
America when he was very 
young in order to avoid being 
impressed (drafted) into the 
Austrian Imperia l Army to fight 
in one of their foolish wars.   In 
other words he was a draft-
dodger.  I found (in November 
2006) a photographic copy of 
the Origina l Passenger List or 
Manifest provided by law to the 
Authorities of The Port of New 
York by Wm.Goodborn, master 
of the bark “Gertrude”, which 
lists Wilhe lm Mende lsohn as 
Passenger #37 on a voyage 
that departed from Antwerp and 
arrived at New York 7 Oct 1856 .  
His age is given as 21 and his 
profession is Butcher.  He must 
have been most pleased with 
the fact that this day of arriva l 
was a lso his 22nd birthday! 
 
After his arriva l in the United 
States, Wilhelm worked at any 
job he could find in order to 
support himself and settled in 
Cleveland, Cuyahoga County, 
Ohio. The Civil War broke out in 
1861 and our hero, who had by 

this time Americanized his 
given name to William, had 
become an enthusiast ic 
American patriot who be-
lieved in the principles em-
bodied in the Constitution 
and the Bill of Rights.  He 
volunteered for service in the 
Twenty-Ninth Ohio Volun-
teers, which was known as 
“The Squirrel Hunters.”  This 
was printed and pictoria l-       
ly represen t ed on h is 
“SQUIRREL HUNTERS DIS-
CHARGE” which he framed 
and hung on a wall of his 
home in Lomita , Ca lifornia . 
The document has been pre-
served and is in the posses-
sion now (2006) of Armista 
“Mistie” Mendelssohn, the 
widow of Lloyd, only child of 
Arthur, 11 th and next-to-last 
child of William and Rebecca 
(Burfield) Mendelsohn.    I 
laminated this document in 
vinyl to minimize oxidation 
and possess multiple copies 
of it.  A copy of those Dis-
charge documents is re-
printed here.  Pictured on it in 
the uniform of a general is, I 
believe, Charles W. Hill, Adju-

tant Genera l of Ohio.  Also, in 
the upper right is a portrait of 
a civilian, a lmost certa inly 
David Tod, Governor of Ohio 
in 1862 .  
  
William served we ll and hon-
orably and took a rifle ba ll in 
a thigh on 9 July 1862 at Fort 
Republic, Virginia .  As he lay 
wounded among the dead 
and dying for severa l hours, it 
became apparent that if any 
of the wounded were to be 
cared for, they were going to 
have to provide that care.  He 
heated his pocket knife over 
a sma ll fire started by a 
match from his government-
issue match case, which he 
later gifted me with (I have it 
among my most cherished 
possessions), and dug the 
rifle ba ll out of his thigh, He 
bandaged it with strips from 
a dead comrade’s shirt, 
which he boiled in his mess 
kit and dried over his fire.  He 
then cut a crutch from a 
nearby shrub with the same 
pocket knife.  Then he pro-
ceeded to a id and organize 

(Continued on page 5) 
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those who could be helped into 
a  company o f  hobb l ing 
wounded that walked for days 
and nights toward where they 
hoped to find their friendly 
compatriots.  Many of them 
succeeded with him.  He was 
discharged due to his disability 
20 Dec 1862 . 
 
He wa lked with a limp for the 
rest of his life, using a cane. He 
was not much slowed by this 
because he a lways went enthu-
siastically wherever he went.  
[He a lso gifted me with a Ma-
lacca cane he used when he 
wanted to dress up fancy.  I 
have it in my home where it is 
much admired by my own great 
grandchildren and the ir peers 
who visit.] 
 
After his discharge from “The 
Squirre l Hunters” he returned 
to Cleveland where he married, 
on 23 Feb 1863 , Rebecca 
Burfield, a lovely girl who came 
from Toronto, Canada .  They 
ra ised a family of eleven very 
vita l and interesting people, the 
first of whom was my materna l 
grandfather, the twelfth died a 
child.  I never enjoyed the 
pleasure and privilege of meet-
ing my grandfather, Bartholdo 
Samue l, fondly ca lled “Uncle 
Sam” by many of his surviving 
k i n ,  s i nc e  h e  d i ed o f 
“consumption” 25 days after 
his youngest child was born.  
This left his widow, Lura Ethel 
(Pease) Mende lssohn with four 
children and herse lf to feed, 
clothe and be responsible for.  
She managed this by being an 
exceptiona lly good seamstress 
and very resourceful in many 
other ways, and by teaching her 
children excellent work ethics. 
She rema ined unmarried and 
independent ‘til her death at 
age 85 . My mother, Vera , was 
the eldest of these four and 
had not had her 5 th birthday 
when her father died. 
 
William became one of the five 
last survivors of the Civil War 
(North and South) before he 
died at the age of 103 years as 
the result of an accident, not of 

old age. He was traveling by 
bus to Los Angeles to be the 
featured speaker at an after-
noon meeting of a women’s 
club. As he stepped off the 
bus, the driver allowed the 
bus to move. That motion 
caused him to lose his ba l-
ance and he fell upon the 
curb, breaking a bone in his 
hip.  In 1937 the practice of 
immobilizing fractured bones 
with screws through meta l 
splints was unknown and 
penicillin had not yet been 
developed.  The only known 
treatment for a broken hip 
was to attempt to get the bro-
ken bone properly a ligned, put 
the patient in a body cast and 
leave him on his back until it 
hea led or the victim died of 
pneumonia.  Most died and 
he did. He told me the day 
before he died that he was 
bitterly disappointed that he 
missed that speaking engage-
ment because the ladies were 
a lways loving and considerate 
toward him AND THEY FED 
HIM LOTS OF GOODIES! 
 
Even in extremis he had not 
lost his enthusiastic humor! 
He still had five of his own 
teeth and he knew how to 
take best advantage of them.  
I remember vividly the grin on 
his face as he sat at our table 
one evening a few hours after 
he came to our home after his 
first airplane ride taken on the 
centennia l anniversary of his 
birth.  My mother had served 
him his first artichoke with 
melted butter.  He had to work 
rather carefully with his few 
teeth to get his full measure 
of the good stuff off the peta ls 
of that odd vegetable-flower-
weed blossom (fancy over-
grown thistle), but he was en-
joying it.  He sa id to me, “I 
seem to be trying a number of 
firsts this week and I’m enjoy-
ing them a ll, I wonder what 
the next one will be.”   I was a 
junior in high school that year 
and I suggested that he might 
like to go dancing with me and 
a couple of my girl-friends on 
Saturday night.  He chuckled 
and sa id, “I think I’ll leave the 

dancing to you youngsters but I’ll 
go with you and tap my toes 
while you dance.”  (Now as I am 
nearing his age at that time a ll 
too rapidly, I rea lize a ll too well 
just how he felt because I can no 
longer dance as I once loved to 
do on roller skates and on my 
feet). 
 
When, in September 1994 , my 
wife. Pauline, and I traveled to 
the birthplace of Wilhelm in 
Hohenems with the objective of 
verifying his parentage we 
learned that his parents were 
n a m e d  B e r t o l d  L e v i -
Mendelsohn, born in Hohenems 
27 Nov 1781 , and Clara Levi-
Sager, born in Hohenems 8 Mar 
1808 .  Their progenitors have 
been traced for five and four 
generations respectively and the 
rccords are on file at the 
Judisches Museum.  There is no 
doubt of their authenticity.  The 
Museum a lso provided me with 
copies of what they described as 
an Ita lian Passport issued to 
Berthold Mendelsohn.  It is cov-
ered on both sides with officia l-
looking stamps under groups of 
written material.   I have an Ita l-
ian friend who is a member of a 
social organization with a num-
ber of linguists in it who have 
examined this document and 
been able to translate portions 
of it.  That which has been trans-
lated clearly indicates that it is a 
document describing Berthold’s 
arrest in Ita ly and his having 
been passed from the hands of 
one police authority to the next 
until they got him back to Austria 
where they pushed him across 
the border while telling him it 
would be hazardous to his well-
being to return to Ita ly. The 
document contains a physica l 
description of Berthold and char-
acterizes him as a Merchant. 
 
Many of his descendants are 
living in the United States today. 
! 
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W I L L I A M  M E N D E L S O H N  W E R N E R  J .
C A H N M A N  

Werner J. Cahnman (1902-
1980) was a member of the 
last generation of German-Jews 
who were trained and active in 
Weimar Germany. Tra ined as a 
lawyer, Dr. Cahnman was de-
ported to Dachau in 1938 , then 
re leased and in the summer of 
1939 fled to the United States.   
He taught sociology at the Uni-
versity of Chicago and at Rut-
gers and wrote a number of 
essays between 1940 and 
1980 encompassing the ex-
periences of a German Jewish 
refugee, an economist turned 
sociologist, and a scholar of 
Juda ism.   
 
Dr. Judith T. Marcus, professor 
of sociology at SUNY Potsdam 
and Dr. Zoltan Tarr, who has 
taught sociology and history at 
City College of CUNY, the New 
School for Socia l Research, 
and Rutgers University, have 
brought these essays together 
in a volume entitled Socia l Is-
sues, Geopolitics and Juda ica .  
It was Zoltan Tarr who led the 
editor of this newsletter to the 
interview with Stefan Zweig 
which appears on pages 8-9 of 
this Newsletter. Part I of that 
volume begins with the essay: 
“My Relations to Jews and Ju-
da ism” and includes ana lyses 
of the cultura l ambiguities of 
Jewish assimilation in Germany 
and Austria .  Part 4 contains 
twelve essays and return to 
Cahnman’s ever-present con-
cern with Jews and Juda ism. 
They present a wide-ranging 
h istor ica l-soc io log ica l view , 
from the Jews of Vienna in the 
1930s to the American scene 
in the 1960s, to the still-
unresolved problems of Arab-
Israe li relations, with Cahnman 
arguing for coexistence and the 
two-state solution for Jews and 
Arabs.  Of possible interest to 
our readers might be Deutsche 
Juden, Ihre Geschichte und 
Soziologie, a lso edited by Mar-
cus and Tarr.  Another volume 
by Cahnman, entitled Jews and 
Gentiles:  A Historical Sociology 
of The ir Relations, is a lso now 
ava ilable through the editing 
work of Marcus and Tarr. ! 
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At the beginning of every 
school year in Mission Hills, 
Kansas, USA, my daughters 
are a lways asked what they 
did over summer break.  In-
stead, this year the teachers 
asked them if they knew 
where their ancestors came 
from.  Kate, age 15 , and Amy, 
age 12 , were more than 
happy to share their knowl-
edge with the ir teachers and 
classmates. 
 
Our fam i ly trave led to 
Hohenems last summer.  My 
father, Gene Dreyer, is a de-
scendant of Simon Bern-
heimer.  Dad caught the 
“genea logy bug” when he 
was about forty, and I must 
admit that I have been in-
fected too.  Dad, my mother, 
Thelma; and I have spent 
many years ta lking about 
m a k i ng  a  jou rn e y  t o 
Hohenems to see a piece of 
our history.   
 
Dad planned our trip with the 
kind help of Professor Felix 
Jaffe-Brunner.  He contacted 
the museum and made ar-
rangements for us to meet 
with Dr. Hanno Loewy. We 
scheduled a meeting and the 
plans were set.  Dad, Mom, 
Kate, Amy, and I flew to Zu-
rich and drove to Hohenems 
a few days later.   
 
The five of us were so excited 
and rea lly didn’t know what 
to expect.  Dr. Loewy greeted 
us and we joined him for cof-
fee.  Dr. Loewy gave us a 
w o n d e r f u l  h i s t o r y  o f 
Hohenems and information 
about our family.  My family 
and I were spellbound.  It was 
hard to wrap our arms 
around the fact that our fam-
ily inhabited Hohenems hun-
dreds of years ago and we 
were now seeing it for our-
se lves!  
 
Dr. Loewy patiently answered 
our many questions and 
made us hungry to learn 
much more.  We went on a 
tour of the town; it was so 
interesting to learn about the 
townspeople and their cul-
ture.  Kate and Amy were 
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Judith K. Munk, an architect 
and sculptor died on May 19 , 
2006 , in La Jolla , Ca lifornia 
at the age of 81 .   For 53 
years until her death, she 
was the wife of Wa lter Munk, 
a member of the Brunner 
family.  
 
Judith Munk was born in San 
Gabriel, Calif., on April 10 , 
1925 . She was ra ised in Los 
Angeles and began sculpting 
at age 7 .  She graduated 
from Bennington College in 
Vermont with a degree in arts 
and architecture, but her 
plans to undertake graduate 
work at Harvard University 
Graduate School of Design 
were stymied by polio, which 
struck just as she began.    In 
1951 she was hired by Sam 
Hinton as an illustrator /
materia ls assistant at Scripps 
Aquarium and shortly thereaf-
ter met Wa lter, who had been 
affiliated with the Scripps 
Institution of Oceanography 

(SIO) in La Jolla , California since 
1939 and with whom he re-
ma ins affiliated to this day. 
 
Judith Munk was an active mem-
ber of the Scripps and University 
of Ca lifornia San Diego commu-
nities, where she made numer-
ous contributions to architec-
ture, campus planning and the 
renovation and reuse of histori-
ca l buildings. This influence con-
tinued until the time of her 
death.   In her architectural de-
sign and artistry, Judith worked 
with conventiona l materia ls and 
traditiona l forms, but with an 
origina l style. Some have de-
scribed her building design, in-
cluding her own home, as inter-
nationa l in style, but with or-
ganic elements that address the 
canyons and ocean cliff terraces 
and unique environments of San 
Diego. She had an active role in 
the design of the old and new 
laboratories of the Cecil H. and 
Ida M. Green Institute of Geo-
physics and Planetary Physics 

(IGPP) at Scripps. For the origi-
na l building, now named the 
Judith and Wa lter Munk Labo-
ratory, Judith approached ar-
chitect Lloyd Ruocco to design 
the building, but she was re-
sponsible for its concept and 
siting. As part of a later addi-
tion, Judith and Wa lter Munk 
were fundamenta l contributors 
to the development of Scripps 
Crossing, the innovative cable-
stayed foot bridge linking the 
west and east sections of the 
Scripps Oceanography cam-
pus. “Judith Munk’s clarity of 
thought, artistic good sense 
and sheer drive were behind 
severa l elegant buildings built 
on the Scripps campus,” sa id 
Charles Kennel, director of 
Scripps Oceanography. “An 
evening in her living room was 
renowned as the quintessen-
tia l Scripps experience for stu-
dents, scientists and legions of 
friends from around the world. 
Judith Munk enlivened a ll she 

(Continued on page 7) 
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Amy, Nancy and Kate Sachse at the tombstone of their ancestor. 

and classmates that not only did 
they know where a branch of 
the ir ancestors came from, they 
had actua lly visited the beautiful 
little town in Austria nestled at 
the foot of the Alps.  
 
Kate and Amy hope that our 

family can trave l back to 
Hohenems in 2008 for the 
reunion. They would like to 
celebrate with descendants 
and learn even more.  I think 
the next generation has 
caught the bug and I am so 
glad. ! 

fascinated to see what da ily 
life was like for our ancestors. 
 
We enjoyed a wonderful lunch 
hosted by Prof. Jaffe-Brunner 
and the girls enjoyed tasting 
the authentic Austrian dishes.  
Afterwards, we toured the 
cemetery, which had a great 
impact on a ll of us.  Dr. Loewy 
took us to the oldest part of 
the cemetery and found 
Simon Bernheimer’s tomb-
stone.  We each placed a rock 
on the tombstone to honor 
him.  We were truly humbled 
to be standing at the grave of 
our ancestor who had lived so 
very long ago. 
 
My husband, Mark, was not 
able to visit Hohenems but 
met us later in Munich.  We 
traveled from Munich to Sa lz-
burg and Vienna.  It was a 
wonderful adventure, and we 
will never forget the specia l 
time we spent in Hohenems. 
 
My daughters returned to 
school and told their teachers 
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for a summer job at Scripps 
and in the following year be-
came a doctora l student 
there.   Scripps was a re-
search institution with only a 
few students at that time.  
 
Meanwhile, Munk’s parents 
left Vienna without too much 
trouble traveling through 
Switzerland and then to Eng-
land before settling in Pasa-
dena , Ca lifornia. 
 
In 1939 Munk applied for U.
S. citizenship and enlisted in 
the ski troops of the U.S. 
Army as a private.   Munk 
was eventua lly excused from 
military service to undertake 
defense related research at 
Scripps. The opportunity to 
make a contribution soon 
arose in connection with the 
Allied plan for an amphibious 
landing in northwest Africa . 
The area is known for large 
winter surf, which could have 
prevented LCVP landing craft 
from reaching the shore. The 
scientific problem was to 
predict and select two days 
of low surf for the landing. 
Wa lter Munk, together with 
his mentor, Hara ld Ulrik Sver-
drup, a distinguished Norwe-
gian oceanographer, devel-
oped formulae and methods 
to predict surf conditions and 
later began tra ining groups 
of military meteorologists in 
their methods at SIO. The 
surf prediction methods were 
used successfully to predict 
conditions for Allied landings 
in North Africa, the Pacific 
theater of war, and fina lly the 
beaches of Normandy. This 
work was credited by the 
Allies with saving the lives of 
many men in combat. 
In 1947 , Munk completed 
his doctorate, a degree 
granted by UCLA for work 
done at Scripps.   Thereafter 
Dr. Munk matured as a 
leader in the field of ocean-
ography as it made an impor-
tant transition from wartime 
funding for defense-related 
research to a broad effort in 
basic science, funded by the 

Navy and Nationa l Science 
Foundation, and pursued co-
opera t ive ly by sc ien t ists 
around the globe. During the 
postwar period, oceanography 
changed from a ship-based 
science focused on expedi-
tionary research, to one char-
acterized by the use of a vari-
ety of remote instruments. 
These instruments and obser-
vations included radar, acous-
tics, se ismology and sate l-
lites. All of these trends made 
it possible for oceanography 
and for Wa lter Munk to make 
ma jor contributions to the 
science of the whole earth, 
not just the sea . Dr. Munk’s 
scientific work and reputation 
grew beyond oceanography, 
and he is recognized as one 
of the great geophysicists of 
his generation.    He has ap-
plied himself to problems oth-
ers consider intractable.  He 
is renowned for suggesting 
daring, some say risky, pro-
jects that yield revolutionary 
d iscover i es i n sc i en c e .  
Through his work he invented 
the tsunami warning system.  
 
Dr. Munk studied earth wob-
ble and spin and variations in 
gravity. This was an early ele-
ment in his lifelong interest in 
the earth’s dynamics.  Dr. 
Munk is a pioneer in the use 
of acoustics as a method of 
studying the earth. His scien-
tific studies of deep ocean 
tides have profound implica-
tions for oceanography and 
astronomy. Dr. Munk devel-
oped some of the first com-
puter programs used to ana-
lyze waves of a ll lengths. Dur-
ing this same period, he wrote 
the classic paper on wind-
driven ocean circulation. In 
1953 Dr. Munk’s studies of 
the glitter of the sun on ocean 
surface waves led him to de-
velop statistics of surface 
slope which helps expla in 
gravity waves, ripples and the 
micro sca le of surface distur-
bances. 
During the early 1960 ’s Dr. 
Munk became an active mem-
ber of JASON, a group of sci-

(Continued from page 6) 
touched. She made a ll lives 
better.”  
 
Wa lter Munk sa id Judith took 
a deep interest in his re-
search. “If I described a pro-
ject I was working on and she 
couldn’t understand it, then 
she told me I didn’t under-
stand it myself—and she was 
right,” sa id Wa lter.  Judith 
inspired Wa lter to take an 
interest in the tidal problems 
of Venice, Ita ly, and threats to 
its art treasures. She accom-
panied Wa lter on expeditions 
and scientific visits to remote 
locations.  
 
MORE ABOUT WALTER MUNK 
Wa lter Heinrich Munk was 
born in Vienna on 19 October 
1917 into a cosmopolitan 
Austrian family. His father, 
Dr. Hans Munk, and his 
mother, Rega Brunner, were 
divorced when Munk was a 
boy. His maternal grandfather 
Lucien Brunner was a promi-
nent banker, a member of 
the Gemeinderat in Vienna 
and unsuccessfully ran for 
mayor against Carl Luegger. 
His stepfather, Dr. Rudolf 
Enge lsberg was Genera ldirec-
tor of the Oestereichischen 
Sa linen.  He was a member 
of the Schuschnigg govern-
ment at the time of the An-
schluss. The Munk family 
spent holidays at the Egelgus 
in Altaussee, near Sa lzburg, 
where Munk learned tennis 
and skiing. In 1933 , when 
Munk was fifteen, he was 
sent to a preparatory school 
in New York State. The family 
selected New York because 
they envisioned a career in 
finance for Munk in a New 
York bank with connections 
to the family business. Munk 
worked at the banking firm 
for two years, hated banking, 
and instead decided to study 
physics at the California Insti-
tute of Technology.   He re-
ce ived a B.S. degree in phys-
ics there in 1939 and a mas-
ter’s degree the following 
year. In 1939 , Munk applied 
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entists that advised the military 
on scientific matters. He a lso 
served on severa l panels of the 
President’s Science Advisory 
Committee (PSAC). Throughout 
the cold war period, he traveled 
extensively and visited many 
remote locations. For example, 
Dr. Munk and his family lived in 
a fa le in Tutuila , American Sa-
moa while he directed the 
Waves Across the Pacific Experi-
ment. In this experiment, Dr. 
Munk studied very long Pacific 
swells and surmised that the 
source of these swells was in 
the Indian Ocean and that the 
waves had entered the Pacific 
a long a grea t-circle route 
through the Tasman Sea .   Dur-
ing the period 1965-1975 Dr. 
Munk attempted to improve 
tide prediction. 
 
Thereafter Wa lter Munk contin-
ued to be active as an advisor 
to government on scientific sub-
jects. He served as Cha ir of the 
Ocean Studies Board of the 
Nationa l Academy of Sciences. 
He was a member of the Nava l 
Research Advisory Committee 
(NRAC) and the MIT Visiting 
Committee .   During the 
1980 ’s, Wa lter Munk joined the 
board of the Monterey Bay 
Aquarium Research Institute 
(MBARI) where he helped focus 
the research aims of the Insti-
tute.  In 1984 , the Navy Secre-
tary named Wa lter Munk to one 
of four Secretary of the Navy 
Research Cha irs in Oceanogra-
phy. The purpose of the chairs 
was to reaffirm the strong inter-
est of the Secretary of the Navy 
in oceanography and to recog-
nize the leading oceanogra-
phers in the United States. The 
generous terms of the SECNAV 
cha irs became a ma jor factor in 
a ll of Dr. Munk’s subsequent 
work.  He a lso continues to 
work on Ocean Acoustic Tomo-
graphy.  
 
Wa lter Munk received the Na-
tiona l Medal for Science from 
President Rona ld Reagan on 
February 27 , 1985 .  He has 
been elected to membership in 

(Continued on page 8) 
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fresh snow, yet seemed to 
swing like the lingering stra ins 
of a violin from some old 
chamber music. Inevitably we 
began by remarking about the 
spirit of this town, built in Ital-
ian fashion on the Northern 
edge of the high mounta ins, 
and about Mozart who had 
been born here, and about 
Austria . It was only a brief step 
farther in the course of our 
thoughts to the Jews in Aus-
tria. Stefan Zweig was bitter: 
the hurt heart of so many edu-
cated Jews in Austria was ta lk-
ing through him. "Look here," 
he sa id, "the Jews of Austria 
have loved this country, this 
German-speaking Austria , like 
themselves. Many of them 
have rendered a pure, unse l-
fish service.  Actua lly, where 
would literature be, the press, 
the theater, music, where the 
Universities in Austria—without 
the Jews? And the result? One 
after the other of them is be-
ing edged out of his place; it 
seems, indeed, an inevitable 
process. Please don't misun-
derstand me: I am not touchy. 
I do not compla in about the 
attack. Considering the depths 
of human hatred, I can even 
appreciate the nature of such 
an attack. What I am com-
pla ining about is the lack of 
defense. It is a joy to have foes 
if you have friends also, but 
this is just precisely what is 
lacking. You'll not be lieve how 
corrupt this country is, and 
how cowardly. Of course, I do 
not mean the ordinary people, 

the peasants and workers—
they are just as good here as 
they are everywhere else, they 
are a kindhearted though un-
enlightened folk. But the lead-
ers are cowards. See, I came 
here to this place, yes, people 
do know me, and greet me, 
and smile to me, and they are 
well aware of the fact that my 
name means something to the 
internationa l public that at-
tends the Festspiele. But do 
you think they would have 
asked me for the least bit of 
cooperation, for the sma llest 
contribution I might have been 
able to provide? Oh, no, that 
would have shocked some of 
the bullies that are lurking 
around the corner." 
                 
In reply, I reca lled the 
"indolence of hearts" which 
had worried Jacob Wasser-
mann so much, and the devas-
tating impression he had re-
ceived, coming as he did from 
a sma ll town in South Ger-
many, of the metropolitan 
decadence of the Jewish 
"bourgeoisie" in Vienna . Stefan 
Zweig agreed that this was the 
reverse side of the coin. A Jew 
of the Reich had no concep-
tion of e ither the socia l signifi-
cance or the social problems 
of Viennese Jewry. "We used to 
ride in horse-drawn carriages 
and live in the best living quar-
ters of the city. We owned the 
big business houses and left 
the vocations of street-cleaner 
or trolley-car conductor to the 

(Continued on page 9) 

Page 8  

STE FA N ZW E I G I N SA LZ BU RG* 
W E R N E R  J .  C A H N M A N   
O R I G I N A L L Y  P U B L I S H E D  I N  T H E  M E N O R A H  J O U R N A L ,  V O L .  X X X ,  N O .  
J U L Y - S E P T E M B E R ,  1 9 4 2 ,  1 9 5 - 1 9 8 ]  

The death of Stefan Zweig (he 
committed suicide February 
23 , 1942 , in Brazil) revives 
the memory of a blasty winter 
night in Sa lzburg. It was in 
January 1931 . I had been 
invited by the small Jewish 
community in Sa lzburg to 
come from Munich to deliver 
a lecture on the struggle that 
the Jews in Germany had to 
fight at that time for their 
threatened civil liberties. I 
took this opportunity to write 
to Stefan Zweig that I wanted 
to discuss with him a few 
questions concerning the fu-
ture course of the Morgen, 
the then leading German-
Jewish periodica l. It was 
agreed that I was to come 
and see him in "his" café-
house after my lecture. The 
lecture, followed by a rather 
heated discussion of the 
sense and nonsense in the 
various methods of Jewish 
defense which were employed 
at that time (still, more or 
less, the methods of today in 
America), took place in a res-
taurant that was not too far 
from the ma in ra ilroad sta-
tion, while the café-house 
where I had my appointment 
afterward was situated on the 
banks of the Sa lzach. 
 
It was late, half an hour be-
fore midnight, when I passed 
the Mirabell Garden and pro-
ceeded toward the city and 
the river. Fresh snow had 
fa llen on this very evening, 
the a ir was sharp and spicy, 

Meda l of Science and the 
Kyoto Prize.  He has an honor-
ary degree from Cambridge 
University.  
 
Al though h is grand fa ther 
Lucien Brunner may initially 

internationa l honors including 
the Vet lesen Prize , Gold 
Meda l, Roya l Astronomical 
Society, Bakerian Lecturer of 
the Roya l Society, Agassiz 
Meda l of the Nationa l Acad-
emy of Sciences, the Nationa l 

have been disappointed  by 
Wa lter Munk’s  career choice, 
we are certa in that  he would 
now agree that  it was a good 
choice and the world has 
benefited from his grandson’s 
work. ! 
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(Continued from page 7) 
the Nationa l Academy of Sc i-
ences in the United States and 
the Russian Academy of Sci-
ences, and is a Fellow of the 
Roya l Society. Dr. Munk has 
received many nationa l and 

and only a few stars glittered 
in the dark skies overcast 
with great grey banks of 
clouds. Stefan Zweig was 
standing outside the entrance 
to the café-house wa iting for 
me: a ta ll, lean man, dressed 
in sportsman's breeches and 
knee-stockings, with a heavy 
fur-lined grey jacket not quite 
reaching down to the knees, 
and a green Alpine hat above 
the clear face of a dark-eyed 
and somewhat melancholy 
gentleman. "Oh, there you 
are!" he sa id. "I have spent my 
evening browsing through all 
the Austrian and fore ign 
newspapers in there, and 
then I could not stand the 
smoky a tmosph ere any 
longer. So we might just as 
we ll have our conversation in 
the open, if you don't mind." I 
did not mind—a lthough the 
snowflakes began to fall 
aga in and an icy blast was 
springing up as we passed 
the bridge over the Sa lzach 
and entered the older part of 
the city. 
                 
Sa lzburg was enveloped in a 
fa iry-ta le garment. The iron 
ra ils a longside the front steps 
of the houses, the baroque 
volutes above the wooden 
doors, the broad window-sills, 
the images of the Madonna , 
and the sa ints in the niches of 
the wa lls, the heads of the 
church p i l lars, and the 
branches of trees which tow-
ered over the garden wa lls—
a ll were thickly lined with a 
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rest of them. Our own poor—
we despised. Success has 
made us fat and complacent. 
What sort of a se lf-defense 
could you expect under these 
circumstances? On the con-
trary, we took nothing and no 
one seriously, not even our-
se lves. Our intellectua ls took 
it upon themse lves to criticize 
the church. At the same time, 
they thought it was great 
sport to ridicule their own 
weakness. How many of our 
girls, or shall I say young la-
dies, forgot a ll their dignity 
when a smartly dressed 
"Aryan" army officer courted 
them! And yet, a ll this is so 
much less appropriate to us 
than to other people!  Ours is 
an age-old title of nobility, an 
actua l obligation to hold to 
higher va lues." 
 
I was deeply moved by the 
despa ir that had obviously 
se ized so noble a mind. I sa id 
that nobody should believe 
his work had been in va in. I 
told him that his Sternstud-
nen and his Dre i Meiser be-
longed to the most widely 
read books in the German 
youth movement. I tried to 
have him rea lize the encour-
agement that his Jeremias 
had brought to numerous 
Jewish boys and girls in the 
Reich who were now looking 
forward, moreover, to a new 

word of encouragement from 
him. He shook his head. 
"When I was writing the Jere-
mias," was his reply, "I 
thought I could possibly be of 
service to the peace move-
ment, but those days are 
gone." 
 
A prolonged silence followed. 
He must have felt that he 
should say something more 
consoling. "You still have it 
easier out there in the Reich," 
he continued. "You can still try 
to be Germans and Jews at 
the same time—a magnificent 
combination indeed, if it were 
at a ll possible. But, to be hon-
est, I believe that your fight, 
too, is lost for the moment. 
This is a nationa listic epoch 
and it must have its victims. 
What, then, is a Jew to do? Be 
ca lm, be silent, shun the lime-
light until the storm has 
passed. This epoch of nation-
a lism, to be sure, cannot last 
forever. I'll give it fifty years at 
the most." 
 
"I will admit," I replied, "that 
we'll have to pass through 
nationa lism, just as we had to 
pass through many other 
things before. But your phi-
losophy of defeatism cannot 
be mine. Don’t you see that 
your fifty years represent ex-
a c t l y  m y  l i f e s p a n ? 
 
At this moment the bells in a 

nearby church-tower struck 
two. We had long since left 
behind the narrow winding 
streets and lanes of old Sa lz-
burg, and were stamping on a 
highroad that passed by scat-
tered suburban homes and 
headed toward the open coun-
try. It was pitch-dark, the wind 
was howling, snowflakes still 
fe ll slowly from a heavily cur-
ta ined sky, and I noticed that 
my hands with only thin gloves 
were a lmost frozen stiff. I most 
certa inly felt like getting into a 
warm room; but since I was 
the younger, I did not want to 
set the pace. For some min-
utes only the stamping of our 
feet was to be heard. I fear it 
must have sounded rather shy 
when I fina lly asked, "Mr. 
Zweig, do you live in this direc-
tion?" With a charming little 
smile of understanding he an-
swered: "No, I live in the oppo-
site direction." We turned, and 
after a short while we found 
ourselves back at the Sa l-
zachbridge where we parted. 
 
Coming to London in 1939 , I 
did not meet Stefan Zweig, but 
I heard of him shortly after the 
outbreak of war. One of the 
executive officers of a large 
Anglo-Jewish organization told 
me Zweig had sa id, or written, 
to him that in such a time of 
decision he did not feel like 
sticking to his desk and do 
nothing but write. He wanted 

to be of service in some way, 
in any place, in which he might 
fit. This statement seemed to 
be remarkable in view of our 
discussion in Sa lzburg some 
eight years before. It appeared 
to be the attempt of a noble 
skeptic to shake off his fears 
and forebodings and to pull all 
his strength together in a new 
effort. It was a fina l effort, as 
the news of his death has 
shown. If one wishes to do 
justice to that effort, one 
should not, I believe, regard 
the suicide of Stefan Zweig as 
a sign of persona l weakness. 
One should rather regard it as 
but another proof of the tre-
mendous strength of those 
powers which overwhe lm "a 
man without a country" in 
these most turbulent times, 
after he has been caught up in 
the ir whirlpool. 

!
*Stephan Zweig was a de-
scendant of the Brettauer fam-
ily of Hohenems.  He was born 
in Vienna ,the son of Moritz 
Zweig, a wealthy Jewish textile 
manufacturer, and Ida Bret-
tauer Zweig, the daughter of 
an Italian banker family. ß 
 
Cahnman was a noted sociolo-
gist.   More information about 
him appears in a separate 
article in this Newsletter. ! 
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HA RV E Y E.  GU T M A N (1921-2006)  
E D I T H  R .  W O R M S E R  W I T H  S U S A N  R .  S H I M E R  

Harvey E. Gutman, a Trustee 
of the American Friends of the 
Jewish Museum Hohenems, 
died on September 1 , 2006 in 
Sarasota, Florida , following a 
brief hospita lization.   
 
Remembered for his loyalty, 
generosity, intellect, diverse 
interests, wit, and courage in 
the face of adversity, he is 
survived by a niece Tara G. 
and her child Maxim; by nu-
merous close cousins, both 
European and American; by 
many dear friends scattered 

Harvey Gutman’s materna l 
family tree traces back to 18th 
century Hohenems.  Harvey’s 
grandfather Hermann Bret-
tauer was the grandson of 
Ludwig Bre t t auer (1 7 6 8 -
1837), a lready a 2nd genera-
tion Brettauer in Hohenems, 
and his wife Fanni Wolf (1783-
1840). Grandfather Hermann 
Br e t t auer a lso born in 
Hohenems, married Be tty 
Schlesinger, settled in St 
Gallen, Switzerland, and be-
came the parents of five 
daughters: 

" Helene Brettauer Gut-
mann – mother of Harvey 
and Gerry Gutman, 

" Erna Brettauer Alexich – 
mother of Beatrice We-
ber-Alexich,   

" Hedwig (Hedie) Brettauer 
Wormser – mother of 
Hans W., Eric W. and Eva 
W. Shavit; 

" Annie Brettauer Schwa-
bacher – mother of Edith 
Schwabacher; 

" Nelly Brettauer – unmar-
ried. 

(Continued on page 10) 

worldwide; and by his friend 
Carol Gilbert.   He was prede-
ceased by his long-time com-
panion Anne M. Keen. 
 
Harvey was born on July 1 , 
1921 in St Ga llen, Switzer-
land, to parents who lived in 
Munich until the Nazis made 
life there too difficult.  His birth 
in Switzerland may have saved 
his life, since it permitted him 
as a German to emigrate in 
1938 to the U.S. under the 
more easily ava ilable Swiss 
quota . 

Page 9  
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Although Harvey’s mother was a 
Swiss citizen by birth, she lost 
her citizenship when she mar-
ried a German, Otto Gutmann.  
The couple built a family life in 
Munich, while a lso mainta ining 
close contact with the Brettauer 
family living in St. Ga llen.  Holi-
days were spent together with 
cousins, e ither in St Ga llen, in 
Munich or in Offenbach am 
Ma in, where Helen’s sister He-
die Brettauer with her husband, 
Arthur Wormser, resided and 
ra ised their three children. 
Briefly, Harvey even went to 
school in St. Ga llen, while his 
brother Gerry (born 1922) was 
ill with scarlet fever.  
 
Harvey a lways cherished his 
memories of those visits. In 
later years, he often returned to 
St. Ga llen when he came to 
Switzerland and developed a 
specia l bond with cousin Bea.  
He a lso reminisced with great 
fondness about the annua l 
Easter egg hunts in the Worm-
ser garden in Offenbach. The 
ritua l consisted of hiding the 
ch ildren ’s previously hand-
colored eggs and, after the suc-
cessful search, all the eggs 
were gathered into one large 
basket and then were auc-
tioned off ceremoniously by 
Uncle Arthur, one piece at a 
time, in his charming version: 
“Wer will dieses schoene , 
grosse, blaue, gelb-gefleckte, 
geschmackvolle Ei…?” (“Who 
wants this beautiful, large, blue, 
yellow-spotted, tasteful egg?”). 
It must have been a favorite 
experience for Harvey since, 
years later in the US, he re-
minded his Wormser cousins 
annua lly about the quoted por-
tion in the original German ver-
sion. 
 
With changing times in Ger-
many, the Gutman family ex-
perienced considerab le up-
heava l. Harvey's idyllic youth 
ended abruptly when, one 
morning in his school in Mu-
nich, he found that his best 
friend and bench neighbor was 
sitting in another seat, leaving 

Harvey sitting alone without a 
word of explanation. He never 
forgot this scene and men-
tioned it rarely, but with bitter-
ness.  
 
In 1938 , his 16 year old 
younger brother Gerry was 
sent by the parents to rela-
tives in England. After the 
start of World War II in 1939, 
Gerry, like other European 
refugees, was declared an 
“enemy a lien”, interned by the 
British in 1940 and sent with 
thousands of passengers (the 
famous “children’s transport”) 
aboard the British sh ip 
Dunera to a then unknown 
destination, arriving severa l 
months later in Austra lia.  
There, as a stranger, Gerry 
worked hard, continued his 
studies, earned advanced 
university degrees and, with 
his skills and some good luck, 
became an accomplished and 
respected government econo-
mist. His marriage to Pame la 
(Pam) Munson produced their 
only child Tara , who became 
the ma jor impetus, in the late 
1970 ’s, for Harvey’s and 
Gerry ’s widowed mother 
(Helen) to relocate from the 
US to Canberra , where she 
spent the rest of her 103-year 
long life, outliving her four 
younger sisters and bonding 
warmly with her only grand-
child. 
 
 During this same unsettling 
time in Germany, Harvey, 
while awa iting an affidavit for 
entry to the U.S., was hidden 
by another family and then 
sent to Frankfurt, where he 
spent some time in the home 
of his Grandmother Betty's 
brother, Fritz Schlesinger. Fritz 
and his wife “Betz” had be-
lieved in prior years that they 
were safe, since Fritz had 
fought in World War I and had 
received an Iron Cross for spe-
cia l bravery.  They were mis-
taken and, in 1943-44 , both 
perished in the concentration 
camp Theresienstadt.  Fortu-
na te ly , Harvey ’s c ircum-
stances improved.  Some 
nearly unknown distant rela-

tive provided the necessary 
guarantee (an affidavit), ena-
bling Harvey to immigrate to 
the U.S.A. in 1938 . 
 
Harvey’s father, Otto Gutman, 
was taken to the concentra-
tion camp at Dachau. He was 
re leased from Dachau but 
then was aga in imprisoned 
there.  He secured a visa for 
England which won his release 
a second time, with the ac-
companying threat: “If we get 
you a third time you will not 
get out any more.”  So Otto left 
for the Swiss border, hoping to 
secure a transit visa to Swit-
zerland and, from there, reach 
England via France. He stayed 
in a sma ll German village near 
the border to Basel, tried to 
cross the border without any 
success, and had to appear 
da ily at the Gestapo-office. 
Erna Alexich, Otto’s sister-in-
law in Switzerland, tried to 
secure his entry and visited 
him once, but returned home 
a lone. She managed to get an 
audience with the highest 
Swiss police officer, Dr. Roth-
mund, and tried to convince 
him that Otto be permitted to 
enter Switzerland, since he did 
not intend to stay there, but 
planned to travel to England, 
for which he had a visa.  That 
effort was a lso unsuccessful. 
Beatrice Alexich Weber de-
scribed the memory of her 
mother’s reaction: “Erna came 
home in despa ir. Never will I 
forget when, one evening at 9 
o’clock, there was a knock on 
our door in Base l and there 
stood Otto, like a ghost. He 
had waited in a queue at the 
German station in Basel (but 
still in German territory), and 
when the man ahead of him 
showed his papers, Otto 
pushed him away and, as a 
last attempt, ran out of the 
building across the line to free-
dom. Then for weeks, some 
re latives secretly nursed Otto 
with a severe case of jaundice 
back to good hea lth and he 
could finally get to London.” 
 
Meanwhile Harvey’s mother, 
Helen, made her way to Swit-

zerland and wa ited there.  She 
had sought a permit to enter the 
United States, but that did not 
come until December 7 , 1941 , 
the day America entered World 
War II, and a ll immigration was 
stopped. So the Gutman family 
survived the war in three differ-
ent continents - Europe, North 
America and Australia. It took 
many years before husband, 
wife, sons and brothers saw 
each other aga in, the first such 
time was on American soil. 
 
Although a lready 17 years old, 
Harvey had not yet finished his 
high school education by the 
time he came to the United 
States to live with distant rela-
tives in Oregon. During the day, 
he worked for a casua lty insur-
ance company as clerk and as-
sistant auditor, while at night he 
attended college. That schooling 
was interrupted for four years by 
the war.  After being deta iled to 
a Russian area and language 
course, he was transferred to an 
infantry platoon that saw front-
line combat in France and Ger-
many, for which he earned a 
bronze star.  Later he served 
with an intelligence team and, 
for one year after the war, 
worked in the Economics Divi-
sion of the Military Government 
in Germany.   
 
Upon returning to Oregon, Har-
vey completed his Bachelor's 
degree in politica l science at the 
University of Portland, while con-
tinuing to work as an adjuster 
for his former employer. Two 
years later, he bought an insur-
ance agency, but then decided 
that this was not the way he 
wanted to spend his life.  In-
stead, he passed a competitive 
entrance examination that en-
abled him to work at the Com-
merce Department’s Bureau of 
Internationa l Trade in Washing-
ton D.C. At the same time he 
attended the American Univer-
sity’s Graduate School at night 
and earned a Master's degree in 
internationa l re lations there.     
 
Thereafter, Harvey served as a 
Fore ign Service Officer in the 

(Continued on page 11) 
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(Continued from page 10) 
Agency for Internationa l Devel-
opment. An understanding of 
the loca l culture was vita l to his 
success in the many places 
where he worked.  His assign-
ments brought him as AID officer 
to Laos from 1958-1960 , and to 
Lome (Togo) in 1961 . In his ora l 
h istory , he reported tha t: 
“Knowledge of the city’s exis-
tence was then largely confined 
to NY Times crossword addicts.  
Unsurprisingly the U.S. Dis-
patcher’s office in Singapore 
thought they had come across a 
misspe lling and shipped my 
household goods to Rome, 
whence they were returned to 
Laos and eventua lly reached 
Togo 15 months later in perfect 
condition.”  In 1963 , he was 
assigned to Ma li and Guinea , 
both of which were undergoing 
difficult times.  Then, in about 
1964 , he became the opera-
tions officer for the US/AID for 
the Equatoria l /Madagascar re-

gion.  Next came an assign-
ment to Ethiopia , followed by a 
stint in Paris to coordinate with 
the various French assistance 
programs.  Other assignments 
included Vietnam, Tha iland 
(from 1968-1971), Geneva , 
during the Nigerian civil war 
and Biafra crisis,  (1971),  Mo-
rocco (1971-1975), Liberia 
(1975-1978), and finally his 
last fore ign assignment, Niger. 
After a short stint in Washing-
ton, Harvey retired from US/AID 
in 1980 .  He continued working 
as an economic consultant on 
projects in Africa .    
 
Clearly, the boy who fled to 
America led a fascinating life , 
one with the opportunity to as-
sist many peoples in this world 
of ours.   His fina l reflection in 
his ora l history should be 
quoted here: 
 
“As I look back on my years 
with the Fore ign Assistance 

Program, I am left with the re-
warding rea lization that this 
part of my life was spent con-
structive ly.  Through my service 
with America ’s foreign assis-
tance programs, I had the 
unique opportunity to partici-
pate in what Arnold Toynbee 
ca lled the twentieth century’s 
greatest achievement:  his-
tory’s first example of system-
atic assistance by the ad-
vanced countries to poorer fel-
low nations.”  
 
 After moving to Sarasota in 
1991 , Harvey Gutman was ac-
tive in planning internationa l 
lectures for the Sarasota Insti-
tute of Lifetime Learning; 
served on the board of a loca l 
chapter of the U.N. Association, 
was a member of the Foreign 
Service Retirees and American 
Fore ign Service Associations, 
became a board member and 
substitute “docent-in-tra ining” 
at the Sarasota Museum of 

Asian Art and, of course, was a 
trustee of the American Friends 
o f  t h e  J e w i s h  M u s e u m 
Hohenems.   We are proud of 
our association with this descen-
dant of Hohenemsers. 
 
Harvey Gutman’s indomitable 
sense of humor is reflected in 
the advice he offered to the 
readers of his annua l winter holi-
day letter two years ago: 
 
DIE YOUNG AS LATE AS POSSI-
BLE 
 
[This article is based on informa-
tion provided by Harvey Gut-
man’s Swiss cousin Beatrice 
Weber-Alexich, American cousin 
Hans Wormser; friend Carol L.
Gilbert (Sarasota , FL); obituaries 
in the Washington Post and the 
Sarasota FL Hera ld-Tribune; as 
well as the documented U.S.
Fore ign Affa irs Oral History inter-
view with Harvey Gutman in 
1997 .]  

H A R V E Y  E .  G U T M A N  

Under the most difficult circum-
stances, my parents had the 
courage to do everything possi-
ble to survive for us, their chil-
dren.  This record of their life 
story, which is interwoven with 
that of my brother2 and myself, 
is dedicated to them in grati-
tude.3 
 
I found severa l postcards that 
we children had written home 
from the tra in on our journey to 
England.   For in January 1939 
my brother and I were on our 
w a y  t h e r e  w i t h  a 
“K indertransport.”  
 
CHILDHOOD IN ENGLAND 
We had to leave   
In 1938 Hitler marched into Aus-

tria.   Laws directed aga inst the 
Jews were introduced.  They 
stipulated what was to be un-
derstood by “Jew:” Whoever 
was descended from four Jew-
ish grandparents was consid-
ered to be a ‘Full Jew.” If only 
two grandparents were Jewish 
then the person was a 
“Mischling” or Ha lf-Jew.  As our 
four grandparents were Jewish, 
both I and my brother, who was 
two years older than I, were 
a lso considered Jews. 
 
As soon as the danger of Na-
tiona l Socialism became evi-
dent, my mother sought an op-
portunity to emigrate.  How-
ever, in spite of there being 
some possibilities, my father 

did not want to go.   He was a 
war inva lid. During World War I 
he had contracted a nervous 
disorder, in the struggle for the 
independence of judges in the 
army.  He was himself a judge .  
He could not therefore imagine 
that anything could happen to 
him, a good Austrian.   One of 
his sayings was “I’d rather be a 
martyr in Vienna than a 
scrounger in America .”  He had 
no idea how true the first part 
of that saying would become.    
 
After the Anschluss, when Ger-
man troops marched into Aus-
tria on 11 . March 1938 , it be-
came increasingly evident that 
a norma l life would no longer 
be possible for us in Austria .  

As a judge and therefore a civil 
servant, my father was immedi-
ately removed from office on the 
grounds of the Hitler race laws.  
We children were a lso made to 
feel that times were changing.  
Until then, we had gone to the 
Catholic Private School on the 
Judenplatz, which was now 
closed down.  So from autumn 
1938 we were obliged to go to 
the school on the Börseplatz. 
 
We felt the change in other ways 
too; there were days when we 
were not permitted to go out.  
Nevertheless, the ma id sent us 
across the street for milk and 
bread.   We were both quite fa ir-
headed and could not readily be 

(Continued on page 12) 

MO T H E R,  FAT H E R,  BRO T HE R A N D I  
T H E  S T O R Y  O F  A  F A M I L Y  W H I C H  S U R V I V E D  T H E  H O L O C A U S T  
S I S T E R  H E D W I G  W A H L E 1  

1 Sister Hedwig Wahle is a descendant of the Brunner family.  She died in August 2001. This essay was written by her in German, and first published in 
Entschluss, in May 1991.  It was subsequently translated.  We are grateful to reprint it here with the permission of the Sisters of Sion. 
 
2  Her brother, Father Francis Wahle, retired as a parish priest in September 2004 on reaching age 75.  He lives in London. 
 
3  My mother, who was an actuary, had planned to write her memoirs when she retired; unfortunately she was unable to do so, as she died of cancer in her 
60 th year.  Nor did my father, who rebuilt the Commercia l Court after the war, taught at university, and finally became the first president of the Supreme Court 
of Justice, find time to write his memoirs.   He had, however, carefully kept and organized a ll the letters he and my mother received after the war, together with 
the carbon copies of the replies they wrote, so that today I have authentic sources at my disposa l. 
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recognized as “Jews.” I was only 
6 years old then and cannot 
there fore remember much .  
However, I know that twice 
within a few months there was a 
great commotion in the family.   
There were telephone ca lls and 
whispering.   Some things were 
evidently not right; they must 
have been the Anschluss on the 
one hand and the “Reichs-
Kristallnacht” on 9 November, 
when synagogues and Jewish 
houses were destroyed, on the 
other.   
 
In view of this situation, my par-
ents were now anxious that at 
least we children should go 
abroad, since for them to leave 
no longer seemed possible.  
Some of our family lived in Tri-
este, and at first our parents 
wanted to send us there, but 
there was a lways some new re-
quirement for the passports, a 
new stamp, a new fee.   One day 
Mother came home with the 
news that we could go to Eng-
land.   She had heard that the 
Quakers were organizing chil-
dren’s transports to England 
with collective passports.   
 
Soon it was time to say goodbye.  
For days beforehand, our par-
ents cried a lot.  This seemed 
strange to me, I could not under-
stand it since I was looking for-
ward to going away.   It was not 
the first time that we had gone 
away without our parents.   We 
had once been to Hungary by 
ourse lves, staying with relatives 
at Lake Ba laton.  I had splendid 
memories, especia lly of the fig 
tree, which was just outside my 
window.  We had often been to 
Semmering over the weekend as 
well.  So I did not understand 
why there should be such a fuss 
now. 
 
On Tuesday 10 January 1939 
the time fina lly came.   Late in 
the evening, the whole family 
went to the station.   The par-
ents were not permitted to go as 
far as the train, so we had to say 
goodbye before.   There were 
tears again on the part of our 
parents.   I still did not under-
stand, and only looked forward 
to the adventure of seeing a new 
country, whereas they stayed 
behind with heavy hearts.  They 
knew that they had said goodbye 
to their children never to see 
them aga in.    

 
We climbed into the train, but it 
did not leave for a long time .   
Something was not in order.   
Later we learned that it was a 
burst pipe. My big brother 
Franzi, who was only nine years 
old, looked after me during the 
whole journey.   First, the a ir 
cushions, which our parents 
had given us, had to be blown 
up.  Then the blankets were 
taken out.  Franzi a lso looked 
after our food a ll the time.  We 
trave led for many hours .   
Grown-ups came a long the car-
riage to see if everything was in 
order, and if we children 
needed anything.  Twice we 
stopped at a station and were 
given hot tea, once in Germany 
for breakfast, and once in Hol-
land.   On the way we wrote 
postcards to our parents and to 
our aunt Elli, our father’s sister.   
 
On the ship, Franzi and I could 
not stay together, as girls and 
boys were separated in the 
cabins.  I was with a bigger girl.  
It was a lready late and I was 
tired, so I soon fell asleep.   In 
the afternoon of the next day, 
we fina lly arrived in London.    
 
Now we a ll wa ited at the Lon-
don station.  Children were 
ca lled, one by one.  Franzi was 
to go to a family and I to a con-
vent. After a long time I was 
fina lly ca lled too.   My brother 
stayed behind as the family, 
which was to take him in, had 
not appeared.  He wrote to our 
parents himself:  “A lady took 
me to her house…I had after-
noon tea at the lady’s place.  I 
a lso met some children there 
from the Society [Society of 
Friends, the organization which 
had arranged the children’s 
transport]. After the afternoon 
tea I went in a car with a couple 
of children to Sussex.” 
 
There they came to a lovely 
hostel ca lled Bankton House , 
which had been established by 
the “Catholic Committee for 
Re fugees from Germany . ”  
When my brother arrived, there 
were ten children there, aged 
between ten and seventeen 
years, so he was the youngest.  
After some months he went to 
a very good school nearby, 
ca lled Worth Priory.   
 
My brother stayed at Bankton 
House until the summer of 

1940 when it was requisitioned 
and Franzi had to go to Devon.  
In the autumn he moved to the 
Jesuit School, Stonyhurst Col-
lege, in Lancashire.   
 
At the London tra in station I 
was introduced to a ta ll man 
who was to take me to a con-
vent in Brentwood, Essex.  We 
had to take the tra in.  I did not 
understand the language, but 
nevertheless I did notice that 
the gentleman took the line to 
Brentford and not to Brent-
wood.   But I sa id nothing.  
Firstly, I was not certa in if the 
line to Brentwood was the 
same as that to Brentford, and 
secondly, I did not know the 
language anyway.  How would I 
have told the gentleman what I 
thought?  
 
But it soon turned out that the 
ta ll gentleman had made a mis-
take.  So we turned around and 
took the underground back to 
another train station, where we 
caught the train to Brentwood.  
 
 It was late when we fina lly ar-
rived at the convent.  The chil-
dren were a lready in bed, ex-
cept for a few of the older ones, 
so my companion did not stay 
long, but handed me over to 
the sisters and took his leave. I 
was led to the dormitory 
stra ightaway, and the next day I 
was a llowed to sleep longer 
than the others.   After break-
fast I was taken across to the 
school.   In the First Class, to 
which I was now to be long, they 
were having a quiet study time.   
 
All the children sat and read 
the ir books, I was a lso given a 
book to read.  As I did not know 
any English, I did not under-
stand a word, but that was to 
change very soon. A few weeks 
later I wrote letters home which 
were a lready sprinkled with 
English words; “Mir geht es 
very gud. It is very nice and it is 
very cold.  How geht es euch.  
Wisst you how it Tante Elli geht.  
Ich habe noch das ganze 
Briefpapier von Hackers nicht 
angefangen und das a lte habe 
ich auch im Kloster nicht 
benützt aber das neue hat 
mann me a ls erstes gegeben 
und das hav I schon a ll ver-
braucht. I kan now English very 
gud.  I kan zimlich mutch Eng-
lish” (beginning of April 1939). 
 

But in the first weeks there was 
many a difficulty with communi-
cation.  No one in the house or 
in the school could speak Ger-
man and my English vocabulary 
was limited to “yes, no, apple, 
pear.”   It was only some weeks 
later that a girl arrived, Elisa-
beth, who was a few years older 
than I was.   She was a lso from 
Vienna and could a lready speak 
some English.   Then life be-
came easier, but in the mean-
time I just had to muddle a long 
on my own. 
 
At the end of April I wrote in Ger-
man: “ I can a lready speak very 
good English, a lmost as well as 
rea l English people, but I cannot 
write so we ll. I am very home-
sick…” It was true that in a few 
months I had learned to speak 
fluent English and could read 
effortlessly.  Later I no longer 
experienced any difficulty in writ-
ing e ither. 
 
Meetings with my brother   
During the first months my 
brother and I were able to com-
municate only by letter.  Then 
one day I had a visitor (in the 
meantime spring had already 
arrived).  A lady from the 
“Catholic Committee” fetched 
me from the convent.   That was 
a great pleasure for me.   First 
the lady took me to a cafe, and 
then she intended to take me by 
car to see my brother at Bankton 
House. The cake at the cafe was 
excellent, but the excitement of 
seeing my brother again was so 
great that hardly had I got into 
the car, then I brought up the 
whole afternoon tea. So that 
was the end of the visit at that 
time. 
 
Then in May an English lady, 
Lady Peel, invited my brother 
and me to her house in London.  
My brother wrote to my mother 
about it:  “Today I am with Anni 
and write you this letter from 
Anni.  She is quite mad with joy 
today.  It is to be hoped that she 
does not stay mad!  That would 
be a great pity!  She is just so 
charming and sweet! And she 
has such rosy cheeks!  We have 
just been to the zoo.  It was very 
nice….” 
 
In the Christmas holidays we 
could be together for a longer 
time.   I was a llowed to spend 
two weeks at Bankton House.  

(Continued on page 13) 
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(Continued from page 12) 
That was an unforgettab le 
Christmas, playing in the snow in 
the big park, sliding on the fro-
zen lake, partaking in the cele-
brations in the church, where 
Franzi was an altar boy, and sim-
ply the joy of being together at 
last.  After I left, Franzi wrote 
home:  “Anni set off from here 
on the afternoon of 19 January 
in the old station wagon.  My 
only comfort is that she will 
come aga in at Easter.   I have 
just received a letter from her.  
She writes that she is well, that 
she likes the snow and that it 
has been snowing again.” 
 
Our next meeting was not at 
Bankton House but in London at 
the home of Aunt Cara, a re la-
tive of my mother.  Aunt Cara 
had come to England from Po-
land at the beginning of the war 
with her husband and three chil-
dren.  She was like a mother to 
the two of us as a lso to other 
relatives.  Although she did not 
have much herself, there was 
a lways room at her table for oth-
ers and on Sunday there were 
often ten of us for dinner.   We 
both wrote to our parents from 
Aunt Cara’s place on 25 March 
1940 . 
 
“My dear ones!   How are you?  I 
am well.  I have come to Aunt 
Cara’s for the Easter holidays.  
Annie is here too.  Yesterday we 
were in the garden.   A boy from 
next door gave me a long stick.  I 
found two ba lls in the garden.  
One is a handba ll; the other is a 
very sma ll blue ba ll.   Annie and I 
played with them nearly a ll after-
noon until it was time for tea .  
Tomorrow school starts aga in.  
We had lovely holidays, but I 
rea lly like to go to school too.   
Annie does very well at her les-
sons, and I am also not a bad 
student.   Now, many kisses.  
Your Franz  
“N.B. greetings to Mitzi” 
“My dear ones!  The Easter holi-
days have been very nice.   We 
have been on some outings.   
The weather is nearly always 
fine.   I hope you a lso have fine 
weather.   I hope we will be here 
aga in at Whitsun.   I got a dark 
blue dress and matching coat 
for Easter.   Auntie and Uncle 
send greetings too.  Many, many 
kisses to you and Aunt Elly, and 
a lso to Mitzi.  Your Annie” 
 
Mitzi was our ma id, who re-

ma ined loyal to my parents 
through a ll the years.    
 
After Easter 1940 correspon-
dence becomes very sparse .   
My brother and I did not see 
each other for a long time e i-
ther, as Franzi was transferred 
to the north of England and the 
distance between us was too 
great.  There is one Red Cross 
letter dated August 1940 and 
one dated April 1941 .  Further 
letters were sent on through my 
godmother via Brazil.   
 
In the following years, Franzi 
and I were often together in 
Blackpool at Christmas and in 
the summer.  Franzi and an-
other boy of the same age , 
Richard, always went there in 
the holidays. It was nice and 
the three of us, and Auntie 
Mary, as we ca lled the lady who 
took us in, looked after us very 
we ll. In summer we often went 
to the seaside or picked black-
berries in the sand dunes.   In 
winter we went carol singing 
before Christmas. That was 
a lways a special experience .   
Most people were very nice , 
invited us into the ir houses and 
gave us not only money but 
something to drink or to eat.    
 
From May 1942 onwards there 
was no more news of our par-
ents.   We did not know if they 
were still a live.  Aunt Cara kept 
our hopes up, but we felt that 
she herself did not rea lly be-
lieve it.   And yet the miracle 
happened. 
 
UNDERGROUND IN VIENNA 
Before the Roundup   
Among the letters I found a 
rough draft written in English by 
my mother, of a letter, which 
my father wrote to the “Catholic 
Committee” in England asking 
the society of Catholics in Eng-
land to take on the education 
of his children.  “…We would 
very happy if you could find a 
possibility for our children to 
get an education of that kind 
and spirit, we always tried to 
provide for them in their native 
country as long as we could, in 
order to help them become 
true Christian characters.” Fa-
ther had become an Old Catho-
lic by conviction after university 
and a Catholic a few years 
later.   
 
Next to this letter was one from 

Franzi and me to “Auntie and 
Uncle,” in which we thanked 
them for their presents for 
Christmas 1938 .   Mother had 
added the following lines: 
“Please excuse me for not 
sending the children’s letter 
until today. Before doing so I 
had to send off the children 
themselves and that involved 
so much running about and 
writing here and there that I did 
not get around to anything else , 
not even sleeping. We spent 
Christmas Eve very happily with 
the children, and your gifts es-
pecia lly caused great re joicing.  
Now we are a lone ly, childless 
couple and would be very 
happy if you could visit us soon.  
Best wishes from your Hedy 
and Karl.”   
 
Mother wrote to a relative in 
1946 about this separation 
from us children:  “I a lso have 
grown up children now, 14 and 
17 years old. The decision to 
send them away from here in 
January 1939 was a difficult 
one, which was not made any 
easier for me when the boy, 
who was then 9 years old, 
promised me that he would 
look after his little sister like a 
father. Looking back I am 
amazed myse lf that I found the 
strength to do it.” 
 
But what was the situation like 
for our parents after the An-
schluss?   
 
At the time of the Anschluss my 
father was a higher judge of 
the Trade Court in Vienna .   
Al though the “Nuremberg 
Laws” were not introduced in 
Austria until 20 May 1938 , the 
Minister of Justice ordered the 
“dismissal of non-Aryan offi-
cia ls in the judiciary” immedi-
ate ly after the Anschluss, in 
March 1938 .   This included 
“the dismissal of a ll judges and 
public prosecutors who were 
Jews or ha lf-Jews.”   
 
Because of his four Jewish 
grandparents, my father was 
considered to be a “full Jew” 
and was immediately dis-
missed from his position as a 
judge.  He rece ived a pension, 
but this was continuously re-
duced over the years.  The rele-
vant paragraph in the Nurem-
berg Laws reads as follows: “ If 
these (Jewish) officia ls served 
at the front in the World War 

e ither for Germany or her a llies, 
they will receive in full, until they 
reach the age limit, the pension 
to which they were entitled ac-
cording to the sa lary they last 
received; they will, however, not 
advance in seniority.   After 
reaching the age limit, their pen-
sions will be calculated anew, 
according to the sa lary last re-
ceived, on the basis of which 
their pension was computed.” 
 
My mother was chief actuary 
with an insurance company, 
Anker, on the Hohen Markt.  As 
a private employee she was able 
to practice her profession for a 
while longer.  However I do not 
know how long, for the employ-
ers association and the sma ll 
businesses were required to 
dismiss a ll Jewish workers and 
staff by 30 June 1938 .  On 29 
June 1938 the employers asso-
ciation issued a circular regard-
ing this matter, which stated 
a m o n g  o t h e r  t h i n g s : 
“Furthermore, the pension and 
ma intenance benefits pa id to 
such persons will terminate.”   
 
In 1938 my parents’ financia l 
situation was a lso more difficult 
because new taxes were con-
tinuously demanded.  In May 
1938 a proclamation had a l-
ready been issued, according to 
which Jews had to declare their 
assets.  The next step was then 
“Aryanization,” that is, the busi-
ness or house was “bought” by 
“Aryans” for a ridiculously low 
price.  In this way the Jews were 
gradually dispossessed.  
 
 A further problem was housing.   
In order to provide housing for 
“Aryans,” a decree was pub-
lished on 4 May 1939 , stating 
that Jews were to be moved out 
of the ir homes and severa l Jew-
ish families were to be housed 
together in one dwelling.   
 
“4 .  Based on the registration of 
housing, the loca l authorities are 
then to pave the way for the ex-
change of housing.  The funda-
menta l idea of the legal regula-
tion is that Jews should be con-
centrated in certa in houses, if 
necessary by force.   Also to be 
taken into account is the advis-
ability of those houses in Jewish 
ownership, which are already 
predominately inhabited by Jews 
being preferably a llocated as 
dwellings to Jews. 
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“6 .  As far as loca l circum-
stances require the space ava il-
able to Jews can be restricted 
above a ll by housing severa l 
Jewish families together in a 
bigger dwelling formerly inhab-
ited by Jews.  In doing this, all 
possibilities provided by the law 
are to be used to obta in the 
most complete separation of 
non-Jewish and Jewish tenants. 
 
“7 .  When premises in non-
Jewish houses which until now 
have been occupied by Jewish 
tenants, become free, a suitable 
way is to be found of making 
them ava ilable if possible for 
German comrades who have 
until now lived in Jewish 
houses…”  
 
On the basis of this edict, our 
parents a lso faced the threat of 
having to accommodate subten-
ants.   My father wrote about 
this in April 1946: “ In the begin-
ning it was not so bad for us.  
We stayed in our home, and 
warded off the introduction of 
subtenants through a ll kinds of 
clever tricks to which my wife 
was an expert.   In 1941 things 
became worse.   We had to take 
subtenants, but managed to find 
an officia l of the Jewish commu-
nity, a doctor, who had the right 
to severa l rooms, so that things 
were still quite bearable.  We 
kept one large room and one 
sma ll room for ourselves.” 
 
On 1 October 1938 a further 
discriminatory measure came 
into force, the compulsory iden-
tity card for Jews.   “Jew who are 
German citizens must, with ref-
erence to their characteristic as 
a Jew, apply to be issued an 
identity card from the appropri-
ate police authority by 31 De-
cember 1938…As soon as they 
have rece ived an identity card, 
Jews over 15 years of age must, 
on officia l demand, identify 
themselves by this card.” 
 
Before that on 17 August 1938 , 
it had a lready been decreed that 
each Jewish man and each Jew-
ish woman must adopt an addi-
tiona l forename. “If Jews bear 
first names other than those 
authorized for Jews according to 
Section 1 , they must from Janu-
ary 1939 , adopt an additiona l 
first name, namely ‘Israe l’ for 
men and ‘Sarah’ for women…So 
far as it is customary to give 

one’s name in lega l or business 
dea lings, Jews must a lso give 
at least one of the ir first 
names.  If they are obliged to 
accept an additional first name 
according to section 2 , then 
this first name is a lso to be 
given.”    
 
Already before the Anschluss 
and even more so afterwards, 
many Jews applied for emigra-
tion, especia lly to the USA.  
From the correspondence with 
a cousin of my father, Heinz 
(Henry) Marcus, who had emi-
grated to the USA very early, it 
is evident that on 16 November 
1938 our parents put their 
names down for a visa for the 
USA.   
 
My father’s sister, Aunt Elly, 
a lso applied to emigrate as we 
can see from a letter sent to 
h e r  b y  H e i n z  M a r c us .  
“Enclosed I am sending you the 
long promised affidavit and 
hope that it will be of some 
use. When you let me know 
that you rea lly intend to come 
here and we most sincerely 
invite you to do so, I sha ll en-
deavor to obta in an additiona l 
affidavit, as mine may possibly 
be too weak, since we cannot 
provide any documentation for 
Va lly’s earnings. Moreover, affi-
davits are very difficult to ob-
ta in, as I certa inly know, since 
up to now I have still had no 
success with my applications 
on beha lf of Weissens, but this 
is understandable, after the 
many, unfortunately very bad 
experiences the people here 
have had…I would suggest that 
you have photocopies made of 
the affidavit and enclosures, 
before you send them to the 
consulate (registered).”  (31 
December 1939).  It seems 
however that this letter was not 
sent directly to Aunt Elly.  Heinz 
Marcus’ mother, Clara , sent it 
on to our parents from Berlin 
with a letter dated 18 March 
1940 .  “After a long time I have 
just received a letter from 
Henry with the enclosure for 
you.   It’s a pity that this letter 
did not come earlier, then Elly 
would still have been a live , 
what a pity.”  For Aunt Elly had 
died in January 1940 , or rather 
she had taken her own life .   
My father wrote about this after 
the war: “My sister is a lso 
dead.  She was given notice by 
order of the Party to leave the 
home where she was born.  

She would have had to move to 
the ghetto.   Two days before 
the expiry of the deadline for 
moving house, she put an end 
to her life.”  And in another let-
ter: ”She was perhaps spared a 
great dea l, as she was not 
tough enough to endure the 
underground life which we 
went through.” 
 
After Aunt Elly’s death, our par-
ents seemed to have applied 
aga in for permission to emi-
grate, because Henry Marcus 
wrote on 23 July 1940: ”Four 
weeks ago I received a letter 
from one of your friends in New 
York, Dr. Beck, if I remember 
correctly, in which he asked me 
to look out for an affidavit for 
you, or else to have the affida-
vit which was origina lly in-
tended for Elly re-written for 
you.   I answered immediately 
that we are prepared to provide 
the necessary affidavits for you 
with the greatest pleasure, a l-
though until now we had no 
idea that you wanted them. 
Indeed I could not send them 
immediately at that time, and 
unfortunately can still not do so 
today.   The reason for this is 
that for a little more than a 
month I have a new and quite 
promising position and cannot 
of course ask yet for a letter 
confirming that I am perma-
nently employed.”  
 
A cousin of my father, Ida Con-
rad, wrote to my parents:  “ It is 
very hard to cope here and it 
gets harder and harder.   Nev-
erthe less, it would be a joy to 
have you over here, where you 
could be together aga in with 
the children in the foreseeable 
future. I don’t yet know a way.   
We are as poor as church mice 
and don’t know anybody who is 
not many times overextended…
Do you, particularly Hedy, not 
have any relative here who is 
sufficiently respectable and 
well off to give you an affidavit? 
Have you ever registered?  
Above a ll, make sure that you 
stay we ll.”  In a further letter of 
16 June 1941 , Ida wrote aga in 
in the same vein: “We are con-
stantly searching for affidavits, 
but have nobody in the relevant 
circles to supply them.  They 
have a lso become very limited 
even in wea lthy circles. Every-
thing is oversubscribed, and 
people have as little interest in 
those who are suffering now as 
we had with the Chinese, etc.”    

It seems that neither Henry nor 
Ida was able to provide the re-
quired affidavits.   In any case 
there was no emigration.   Our 
parents stayed in Vienna .   In a 
letter dated 16 April 1946 , my 
father wrote:  “After the introduc-
tion of the Jewish star and the 
beginning of the transportation 
of the Jews, things became more 
and more ticklish.”    
 
Flight   
After Hitler’s attack on Russia in 
1941 , anti-Semitic policies were 
intensified and new anti-Semitic 
measures introduced.  On 1 Sep-
tember 1941 , the “Police Regu-
lation Concerning Identification 
of Jews” was re leased.  This 
stated, among other things, 
“Jews…who have comple ted 
their sixth year of age are forbid-
den to appear in public without a 
Jewish Star.  The Jewish Star 
consists of a hexagona l star as 
big as the pa lm of one’s hand, 
drawn in black on yellow mate-
ria l, with the inscription “Jew.”  It 
is to be worn on the left breast 
firmly sewn on to the garment 
and clearly visible.”  This was 
just the beginning of a series of 
discriminatory regulations de-
signed to exclude Jews from so-
ciety.  On 23 September 1941 
the regulation concerning the 
“use of public transport by Jews 
with police permission” was is-
sued.   On 3 April 1942 a further 
regulation required apartments 
and buildings also to be identi-
fied as “Jewish.”   “Jewish 
householders…who are obliged 
to wear the sign of identification 
must a lso identify their dwell-
ings.  The dwellings are to be 
identified by a Jewish Star 
printed in black on white paper, 
similar in shape and size to that 
worn on garments.  This identifi-
cation is to be glued next to the 
nameplate, or if this is lacking, 
on the door frame of the en-
trance, visible from outside.” 
 
Mother wrote to our godparents 
in April 1946: “In the summer of 
1941 we were forced to take 
into our home Jewish lodgers...”  
 
On 22 September 1946 my fa-
ther wrote an account severa l 
pages long to our godparents.   
In this he says: “You will hardly 
believe it but psychologica lly the 
most upsetting time was rea lly 
the time before we fled.  We had 
known for months that a ll Jews 
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would be deported, so we took 
precautions to avoid being reset-
tled, a lthough we did not as yet 
know the full truth.  We had no 
idea that the deported Jews 
would be murdered in Poland, 
and still believed that they would 
only be carried off to Polish ghet-
tos and thus transplanted into a 
new homeland. But since as you 
know, we had no specia l affec-
tion for Poland nor in particular 
for Polish Jews, we decided to 
evade deportation. Since we 
were aware that movable pos-
sessions of those being de-
ported had to be given by them 
‘voluntarily’ to the NSV before 
transportation, a lready in Febru-
ary 1941 we gave all our house-
hold effects just as they were, 
lega lly certified, to an Aryan 
woman.  She was Hedy’s Nanny, 
Frau Poldi, if the name means 
anything to you.  When the de-
portations began, we left the 
house before 7:00 every day 
and made our way first of a ll to 
the Jesuit Church (Am Hof), 
where we attended severa l 
masses and then separated at 
about 8:00 .  At that time I was 
working illicitly with Dr. Klee , a 
lawyer friend, who was an Aryan, 
so I had shelter for the morning 
and afternoon.   At first, Hedy 
drifted about the streets, but 
eventua lly that was no longer 
possible as it was the middle of 
winter, so we had to find a place 
for her to stay during the day-
time. That was not easy.” 
 
Mother added:  “First of a ll we 
usua lly went into a church which 
had two exits, then we wandered 
around.  Karl went to Dr. Klee for 
a couple of hours and I went on 
excursions, which were not very 
enjoyable with the severe cold, 
inadequate clothing and an 
empty stomach.  I was a lso 
afra id of being stopped, as at 
that time the obligation to work 
was a lready quite strictly en-
forced and therefore people go-
ing for wa lks on weekday morn-
ings were suspicious.  At the 
same time we were haunted a ll 
day by the fear of not finding our 
‘cozy home’ still intact in the 
evening.” 
 
Father continued: “In our need, 
we turned to our ‘house Jew, 
Gustav.’  Gustav belonged to 
that noble class of people 
through whom one bribed offi-
cia ls in the German Reich.  He 
had free access to the housing 

office and to the Gestapo, and 
probably a lso served as a po-
lice informer in between mak-
ing a living by illicit trading in 
foodstuffs.  An engineer in civil-
ian life, he a lways had exact 
information on those districts 
of the city where one could ex-
pect Jews to be rounded up the 
next day.   Hedy had absolute 
confidence in him until we dis-
covered some of his dirty tricks.   
By and large, however, he func-
tioned quite well and we are 
still grateful to him beyond his 
death, in spite of the payments 
he swindled out of us.   He is 
no longer a live today, as in the 
end he too had to go into hid-
ing but was caught by the Nazis 
and taken to Poland where he 
was probably gassed.   
 
“Now the aforementioned Gus-
tav had a girlfriend, who a lso 
worked in illicit trading, espe-
cia lly in fore ign currency and 
gold.   It was in her home that 
Hedy found shelter for the criti-
ca l days, and was able to stay 
there when she did not know 
where else to go.   At lunchtime 
I usua lly went there too and we 
had a bite together, which we 
had brought with us.   I then 
went back to the office, whilst 
Hedy stayed with the lady- 
when the latter had no errands 
to make- and played with her 
little boy, who was an extraordi-
narily sweet and clever child.  
Towards evening she would 
then ring up our home…and 
since everything was always in 
order, we returned to our flat in 
the evening.   These da ily ex-
cursions were not easy to carry 
out, as we were under the 
strictest supervision in our 
home.   That is to say we had 
compulsory Jewish lodgers, 
among whom was the chief 
doctor of the Jewish commu-
nity, Dr. Lederer, who distin-
guished himse lf by exceptiona l 
cowardice.  He insisted that a ll 
the regulations imposed on the 
Jews should be strictly adhered 
to and was continua lly threat-
ening us with denunciation, 
since we disregarded a ll the 
rules on principle.   Thus the 
Jewish Star had to be clearly 
displayed on our door; we a l-
ways had to wear the star in his 
presence, etc.  He was a lways 
prophesying that we would 
come to a bad end.  Now he 
has long ago been gassed, and 
we live fit as a fiddle as if no 
Hitler had ever been up to mis-

chief here.  Of course, Dr. 
Lederer knew exactly why we 
left the house each day, and 
since he was afraid that he 
would be made responsible if 
we were not found when there 
was a roundup- he was con-
vinced that he himself would 
be left in peace by virtue of his 
position- we were of course 
a lways afra id that he would 
report us or spoil our plans in 
some other way.  You can imag-
ine therefore how unpleasant 
these six months were, from 
December 1941 to May 1942.” 
 
On 2 May 1942 the Gestapo 
came to our parents’ house to 
deport the Jews living there .  
“On 2 May 1942 we had excep-
tiona lly stayed at home be-
cause my wife believed that 
she had precise information 
that there would be no round-
ing up on that day, because the 
First of May was be ing officially 
celebrated.  But the informa-
tion was incorrect. 
 
“Just as I was leaving the 
house by chance at about three 
o’clock in the afternoon, I was 
informed by the caretaker that 
the ra iders were in the house 
and had a lready surrounded it.   
I did not, however, a llow myself 
to be intimidated, and left 
through the cordon, quite un-
hindered.  I was obviously con-
sidered to be an Aryan because 
of my ca lm demeanor.   At the 
same time I instructed the 
caretaker to inform my wife 
immediately, which he did, a l-
though reluctantly.  She, having 
just had an afternoon nap, got 
ready quickly and was leaving 
the flat just at the moment 
when the Gestapo rushed up 
the sta irs to fe t ch our 
n e i g h b o r s  a n d  o u r -
selves.” (Letter dated 26 April 
1946) 
 
Mother wrote of her escape:  
“…I just looked ca lmly at the 
uniformed gangsters and their 
Jewish helpers, and asked 
them as though I was curious 
‘What’s a ll the commotion 
about?’ Yet we had to reckon 
with the probability that the 
lodgers, who had been compul-
sorily insta lled in our home , 
would tell the SS people that 
we had only just left the house . 
Fortunate ly we had a few min-
utes start- the Nazis a lways 
came a few minutes too late on 
other dangerous occasions too- 

this was enough for us to es-
cape deportation and a horrible, 
agonizing death, by jumping on 
to a moving tram.” As soon as 
our parents had escaped imme-
diate danger their first action 
was to take off the yellow star. 
Then they went to the agreed 
meeting place.  
 
Friends are interrogated   
“Our successful flight was the 
first miracle of our time under-
ground, which was rich in mi-
raculous escapes.  Admittedly 
we could not take anything with 
us but as a precaution we had 
a lready given some things to 
friends for safekeeping and 
Mitzi, whose behavior was exem-
plary, brought us a few things.  
But by and large we had lost 
everything in our home, espe-
cia lly the beautiful Biedermeier 
furniture, which you had pro-
vided for us, a lmost a ll our fam-
ily pictures, etc.   We had essen-
tia lly escaped with nothing but 
our bare lives.”  (Letter to Lili 
Berger 23 February 1946)  
 
Our parents spent the first 
nights with friends.  Father 
stayed with “Uncle Beppi,” the 
son of Poldi, who has already 
been mentioned.  Then they 
found accommodation with a 
re lative.   They were however 
very soon being searched for at 
Poldi’s house which was ra ided, 
probably because our parents 
had legally given her the house-
hold furnishings.   
 
Many friends and acqua intances 
of our parents were a lso interro-
gated.  In a deta iled account to 
women friends mother wrote: 
“Because we had succeeded in 
evading being transported to the 
slaughterhouse by bluffing them, 
we were considered by Nazi au-
thorities to be especially danger-
ous individuals, who absolute ly 
must be caught.  
 
“Many of our acqua intances 
were ‘interrogated’ in the most 
brutal way to make them reveal 
our whereabouts. Fortunate ly, 
they had no idea where we were, 
as we had purposefully left even 
our best friends in the dark 
a b o u t  t h i s .   A t  t h e s e 
‘interrogations’ they had to 
pledge to cooperate in capturing 
us, by telephoning the Gestapo 
immediately if they should see 
us or rece ive any information 
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about us, otherwise they them-
selves would be sent to a con-
centration camp. The result was 
that a lmost a ll our friends and 
a cqua intances , even those 
whom the Gestapo had left in 
peace, avoided us like the 
plague, so that we could not 
count on their help either with 
regard to food or for she lter. In-
deed most of them even avoided 
us on the street by making a 
detour as soon as they caught 
sight of us.”   
 
In spite of that, there were still 
people who were prepared to 
help our parents.  After having 
had her house raided and been 
interrogated, it was no longer 
possible for Poldi to help di-
rectly. However she continued to 
do as much as she could 
through our maid, Mitzi. 
There are severa l accounts of 
Mitzi’s he lp in the letters.  “With 
regard to your question as to 
whether we have a factotum, I 
must answer in the affirmative.   
I do not know if you still remem-
ber our Mitzi, who has been with 
us since our marriage.  She 
stayed with us a ll through the 
Nazi time, until we went under-
ground.   After our flight she 
cleared out the flat as best she 
could.   What we have left, we 
owe for the most part to her.   
She was a lso questioned thor-
oughly by the Gestapo, and gave 
absolutely nothing away, in fact 
she became so offensive to the 
Gestapo that they believed that 
she rea lly knew nothing about 
us and left her in peace. During 
the following years, she was con-
stantly in touch with us, gave us 
bread coupons aga in and aga in, 
and she occasionally brought us 
cooked deserts such as dump-
lings, which she made herself.   
As she is a dreadful cook, the 
desert was no delicacy to be 
sure, but at the time we ate 
even her dumplings ravenously.  
After the liberation she immedi-
ately gave notice and left the 
position she had he ld in the 
meantime and came back to 
us.”  
 
In her account, mother a lso 
mentions the help of two of her 
club friends. “As I have a lready 
related, my women friends from 
the club, Dr. Knappitsch and Dr. 
Prutschner were pra iseworthy 
exceptions to the genera l behav-
ior, a lthough I was a llowed to 
come only at particular times of 

the day, was not to stay there 
very long, etc. Dr. Knappitsch 
a lso tried once in a very tactful 
way to offer me some money, 
telling me that a collection had 
been taken up for people in 
need, and perhaps I knew 
someone who was in need, etc.   
I refused, of course, because 
we did not need money, a l-
though our bank account was 
closed and Karl’s pension had 
been discontinued.”    
 
In another letter from Mother to 
h er c l ub co l l e ague ,  Dr . 
Marianne Beth, she says:  “She 
(Dr. Knappitsch) was exception-
a lly nice towards us during the 
Nazi time, and every few weeks 
she gave us a few food cou-
pons.   This was of great impor-
tance to us, because for the 
whole three years we were hid-
ing from the Nazis we were 
without food coupons and ab-
solutely nothing could be ob-
ta ined without them.  She a lso 
told her friend Dr. Prutschner 
about our situation and from 
then on she too provided us 
with some food coupons.”    
 
The parents of one of my 
school friends from the first 
grade at primary school, the 
Kröglers, a lso he lped my par-
ents; they had a grocery shop.   
On 26 January 1946 my father 
wrote to me in England: “Do 
you still remember your school 
friend Grete Krögler?.. Last 
year the house they lived in 
was bombed,  and they lost 
nearly all the ir be longings.   
They were a lways very kind to 
us, a lso whilst we had to stay in 
hiding.   After the liberation, 
one of the first things I did was 
to visit them.   When I met him 
in front of his shop, Mr. Krögler 
flung his arms around my neck 
and smothered me with kisses, 
for joy that we had been saved.  
They rea lly are good kind peo-
ple.“ 
 
Occupation whilst in hiding 
Before going underground, Fa-
ther had a lready worked ille-
ga lly for two lawyers.  This work 
now became much more impor-
tant, as his pension had been 
stopped and the bank account 
closed.    
 
“At first I earned our living by 
working in severa l lawyers’ of-
fices, but one of the lawyers 
who employed me (Dr. Alois 

K lee) died suddenly of blood 
poisoning, and the other (Dr. 
Ernst Eckerl) had to report for 
active duty, so that I was left 
with nothing.  My wife however 
succeeded in finding me a posi-
tion as bookkeeper, with hourly 
wages, with two firms who were 
completely unaware of my rea l 
name.   Our living costs were 
thus more or less covered 
since we did not need very 
much, the main thing being the 
expenses for accommoda-
tion.”  (Letter from Father to a 
colleague, Dr. Edward Koren, 
14 June 1947) 
 
Regarding my mother’s occupa-
t i on ,  m y  f a t h e r  wro t e : 
“Furthermore, my wife gave 
lessons, not only in mathemat-
ics and physics, fields in which 
she is an expert, but a lso in 
Latin, French, English, chemis-
try and a series of subjects of 
which she hardly had any idea . 
But the pupils were satisfied, 
even with the lessons in those 
subjects, with which she was 
less well acquainted. They rec-
ommended her to other 
friends, so that she was usually 
given some hot soup and vege-
tables as well as her pay, 
sometimes also food coupons, 
and even now and then a hot 
dessert at one student’s home .   
This meant that she did not 
become nearly as run down as I 
did.  At the end I weighed only 
about 50 Kg instead of 90 , and 
had aged so much that all the 
young girls on the tram immedi-
ate ly offered me a seat.   Con-
sequently I was completely un-
recognizable. Furthermore I 
had grown a long bushy mus-
tache so as not to be recog-
nized by the Gestapo who were 
hunting for us.” 
 
Mother wrote: “In the end I had 
so many pupils, that I was on 
my feet the whole day, a ll the 
more so as the tram lines were 
often destroyed by bomb at-
tacks and I had to go on foot 
from Hetzendorf into the city, 
for example.   Even leaders of 
the Hitler Youth took lessons 
from me.”  Father’s account to 
Mr. and Mrs. Kris, our godpar-
ents is especially deta iled. “In 
one sense I felt my escape to 
be a relief, and Hedy did too.  
The mere fact of no longer hav-
ing to wear the star and of no 
longer having to carry out an 
awkward procedure to make 
the star disappear when we 

were a few streets away from 
our home, was a relief.   There 
was a lso the feeling of ‘I can do 
what I want, for if I am caught it 
will cost me my head anyway. 
Therefore I am no longer bound 
by any rule whatever, except this 
single one, not to get caught.’” 
 
Social contact in the under-
ground   
Father continued: “With time we 
settled into our situation quite 
well, once the tiresome question 
of accommodation had fina lly 
been reasonably we ll arranged 
by the middle of August.  A cer-
ta in amount of social contact 
a lso developed between those in 
hiding. 
 
“Here I must go back a little.  
When my sister died and we had 
to liquidate her home, a Jewish 
lady, Mrs. Wittner was recom-
mended to us.   She had a sma ll 
grocery shop in Atzgersdorf and 
professiona lly liquidated the 
homes of Jews who were emi-
grating.   We handed the matter 
over to her, and she carried out 
her job decently and obta ined 
good prices, so that we recom-
mended her to our acquaintan-
ces in genera l.   Mrs. Wittner 
worked together with a Mr. 
Pre is, an ironmonger from 
Neuenkirchen.   The Preis family, 
Mrs. Wittner and her old mother 
had gone into hiding shortly be-
fore we did.   Naturally our com-
mon fate now brought us close 
together. The Preis family, by the 
way, was later picked up in a 
ra id.  They were first transported 
to Theresienstadt and from 
there to Auschwitz, where they 
were gassed.  Only the 16 year-
old daughter survived Auschwitz 
by a miracle.  She is a lready in 
the USA.   We are still good 
friends with Mrs. Wittner and her 
mother, an old Jewish lady from 
Warsaw, who in spite of her 78 
years cannot yet speak German 
properly.   
 
“The aforementioned Preis had 
an aunt, now 84 years old, who 
was married to an Aryan, a re-
tired inspector from the electric-
ity works.   He died a few 
months ago, after the liberation.  
Mrs. Vidiz repeatedly declared 
that the fact that she happened 
to have an Aryan husband, and 
was therefore protected, put her 
under the obligation to help a ll 
other Jews wherever she could.   
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Her husband thought the same.   
If someone in hiding had no-
where to stay, they could be cer-
ta in that the Vidiz couple would 
put them up for a few days.   
Hedy slept there frequently.   
Their home was open to a ll in 
hiding at a ll times.  One could 
warm up there, and a lso get 
some hot soup etc. Well, that is 
where a ll those in hiding met.   
Most of them were engaged in 
illicit trading, only I worked with 
Dr. K lee and a fter his death as a 
bookkeeper per hour with sev-
era l firms and Hedy gave private 
lessons.  Amongst the others 
who came was an Aryan, who 
dea lt in a ll sorts of things.  Hedy 
arranged with him that he 
should let his children have pri-
vate lessons with her, and in 
return he gave us coupons for 
bread and occasiona lly for other 
food-since he dealt in food cou-
pons wholesale.  This was the 
basis of our nourishment for 
three years.  As a rule we ate in 
pubs, a coupon-free soup at 
midday and in the evening, and 
a so-ca lled ‘Dish for regular 
guests.’  The latter were coupon-
free and fat-free dishes of pota-
toes and boiled vegetables 
which we ate with a piece of 
bread obta ined with the bread 
coupons, which the father of 
Hedy’s aforementioned pupils 
let us have. When the pupils had 
had good marks on the ir tests 
their father treated us to a cou-
ple of fat coupons, we were then 
able to treat ourselves to a meal 
with a fat coupon, for example 
peas, but this did not happen 
too often. Things got really bad 
after January 1945 , when the 
dishes without coupons were 
abolished.  From then on we 
literally starved most of the time, 
as we had only very few fat cou-
pons, a lthough at that time an-
other of Hedy’s pupils gave us 
some. But this was of course far 
too little for two people, and in 
fact we a lmost starved to 
death.” 
 
The problem of lodging   
Our parents used tram passes 
with fa lse names as a means of 
identification.  I found three of 
these passes among the letters, 
one of Mother’s, made out in her 
ma iden name of Brunner, and 
two of Father’s, in the name of 
Ma ly and Tha ller.  As Brunner 
was not an incriminating name, 
it was not so difficult for Mother.   
Father however was afra id that 

someone would address him by 
his name on the street and that 
he would react to that.   He 
therefore chose severa l names 
with “a” and “e.”  If he should 
react to being addressed as 
“Wahle,” he could then say that 
he thought Mr. Tha ller or Mr. 
Ma ly had been ca lled. 
 
Father wrote to Lily Berger on 
23 February 1946: “The main 
worry was the question of lodg-
ing.   Sometimes we slept in 
the open, then in a bombed out 
warehouse, then aga in a cou-
ple of days with friends, who 
however usua lly sent us away 
aga in after a few days, for fear 
of the Gestapo.  We were saf-
est with strangers who did not 
know who we were.”   
 
To Dr. Koren father wrote (14 
June 1947): “So we had to look 
for lodgings with strangers.   It 
was at the same time neces-
sary to make it clear to the 
landladies that we must not be 
registered with the police, but 
without arousing their suspi-
cions.”  Father continues in a 
letter to Lily Berger:  “To this 
end we had invented the fol-
lowing story.   I introduced my-
self as a businessman from the 
provinces that usually came to 
Vienna for a few days each 
week, bringing his mistress 
with him.   Since my wife was 
very jea lous and kept tracking 
me, I must not be registered 
with the police.   With this story 
I rented accommodation in two 
different districts.   Twice a 
week (on Monday and Thurs-
day) we moved from one to the 
other.   When I told one land-
lady I was going home, I told 
the other I had just arrived.  
After three days the game was 
played the other way round.  
We stayed in one of these 
places using this story from July 
1942 until the liberation in 
April 1945 .   By the way one 
landlady was a committed 
party member, whom one could 
greet only with ‘Heil Hitler.’ 
With the accommodation for 
the second ha lf of the week 
however we had problems 
most of the time.  Only rarely 
did this work out. “ 
 
Father wrote to Dr. Koren re-
garding accommodation: “One 
of the ladies was an extreme 
Nazi, who had even put a Swas-
tika on her nightcap (this is not 
an invention).  In this way we 

spent the greater part of our 
underground time .   However 
we lost one of our lodgings in 
connection with our arrest in 
September 1944 .   That was 
the worst time because we of-
ten did not know in the morn-
ing where we would stay that 
night.”  
 
The arrest   
“Luckily for us, the Gestapo 
a lways came too late, if only by 
five minutes.  Once when we 
visited another friend, and this 
happened to be the only time in 
the three years of our so-ca lled 
underground time that we were 
invited for an evening mea l, we 
encountered the detectives at 
the door of the house as we 
were leaving.   They had 
learned of our invitation in 
some inexplicable way, but they 
went past us unsuspecting!  
With my Styrian jacket and a 
long, bushy mustache with 
curled up ends like an old Ger-
man sergeant ma jor, I was not 
easily recognizable even by 
good friends, and women were 
never looked at too closely.   
The Gestapo was ma inly con-
cerned to catch the men.   So 
the three police officers took 
no notice of us (I had immedi-
ate ly recognized what kind of 
customers they were).  They 
made a bee line upsta irs to our 
hostess and told her straight 
out that we were in her home , 
and she should tell them at 
once where she had hidden us.   
Although the search of the 
house came to nothing, the 
lady was repeatedly summoned 
to the Gestapo and had to 
pledge herself to report us im-
mediate ly, and make sure that 
we were arrested, if she should 
see us again, otherwise she 
would be imprisoned her-
self.”  (From a letter Father 
wrote to Olga Bunzl, a relative . 
18 August 1946) 
 
The most a larming thing, how-
ever, was being taken into cus-
tody.   Mother wrote about this 
in her account: “Unfortunately, 
the police were in and out of 
the house of the second land-
lady who had many lodgers 
(and still more bedbugs) and 
who was herself involved in 
various shady business dea l-
ings.   As there had a lready 
been a few disturbing inci-
dents, we were on the lookout 
for another room, but had not 
yet found an a lternative .   And 

then, during a search of the 
house, we were summoned to 
prove our identity and as we had 
no documents we were arrested 
and taken to the police prison 
on the Elisabeth Promenade.   
Karl was handcuffed to another 
person under arrest!  After we 
were arrested, we spent a terri-
ble night with quite bearable 
fe llow deta inees, but unbearable 
bugs!  But still worse than the 
bugs, we were tortured by the 
thought that now we would 
come to a dreadful end, since 
we had to assume that they 
would inquire at the addresses 
we had given and learn that a ll 
the facts were fa lse, and very 
soon our identity would be es-
tablished.   However we were 
determined that we would keep 
going, even in this situation.    
We had nothing more to lose.  
And so Karl recited his old story 
aga in.  He was a married man 
and I was his mistress.  One 
must not, for Heavens sake, in-
quire at the address he had 
given.   If his wife found out 
something, his marriage would 
be destroyed.   And as the ad-
dress he gave was actually listed 
in the telephone book and we 
had obviously put on a good act, 
the police officers believed this 
story and after twenty- four 
hours they set us free. “  
   
This story has a twist to it which 
the parents learned about only 
subsequently, as Father wrote to 
Mr. and Mrs. Jerome, 28 July 
1946 , “The prominent socialist 
whose name I had chosen so 
innocently, ma inly because it 
sounded similar to my own, at 
least superficially, was a lso in 
custody at Elisabeth Promenade 
as a political prisoner when we 
were taken there.  Two months 
later he was sent to Dachau, 
and was liberated by the Ameri-
cans in the spring of 1945 .   
 
“Rea lly it is amazing that the 
police officers, with a reputation 
for knowing everything, did not 
even know whom they had 
locked up there.  If they had de-
clared to me that I could not be 
the Mr. Tha ller I cla imed to be 
because he was a lready there, 
then I would probably have been 
stumped.  Looking back, one 
can see that the much feared 
German police force was not 
nearly as efficient as was gener-
a lly believed, but achieved suc-
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cess only through terrorism and 
intimidation.” 
 
The last days and the liberation 
“We had settled into our situa-
tion so well that, for example, we 
made an excursion into the Vi-
enna Woods every Sunday.   
That was a ll quite safe, as until 
1944 /1945 , unsuspicious look-
ing passers by and excursionists 
were left completely unmo-
lested.   Moreover there were no 
round-ups in the sma ll inns that 
we frequented, where we were 
regarded as regulars who sat at 
table with the SS and SA and 
ta lked politics according to Nazi 
views.  That did not change until 
Christmas 1944 when the col-
lapse was just around the cor-
ner.   People were stopped on 
the street and had to identify 
themselves.   It was like that in 
the pubs too.   Hedy was even 
questioned a few times, but 
could a lways ta lk herself out of 
it.   I myself was very careful and 
had developed a technique of 
suddenly disappearing without 
trace. My companions, who did 
not know who I rea lly was, were 
often quite astonished that in 
the middle of a sentence I sim-
ply disappeared.”  (Account writ-
ten to Mr. and Mrs. Kris, 22 Sep-
tember 1946). 
 
In a letter to Heinz and Va lly 
Marcus, dated 25 November 
1945 , my father mentioned that 
he had even been arrested 
twice, and was only re leased 
because of his impudence and 
good luck.   In a letter to Ida 
Conrad, dated 1 November 
1945 , he writes: “The longer it 
a ll lasted the more frequent 
were the round-ups, and it was 
so much more difficult to con-
cea l onese lf.”  Father wrote fur-
ther to Mr. and Mrs. Kris: “I a l-
ways breathed a sigh of relief 
when the warning sounded, that 
a ircraft were approaching. Then 
I knew that the round-ups would 
be stopped.  There was a lso an-
other thing.   Bombs destroyed 
the place where I had worked as 
a bookkeeper in February 1945 , 
so that I had to wa lk around the 
streets in the middle of winter.   
When the a larm went, I knew 
that the a ir ra id shelters would 
now be opened, and it was rela-
tively warm there. During these 
last months, we were only kept 
going by the knowledge that the 
present situation could last a 
few more weeks only.   Besides, 

at this time we had fixed ac-
commodation for ha lf of the 
week only.   In this state of 
mind, we shouted for joy when, 
in the week after Easter 1945 , 
shells just flew over Vienna and 
the dead and wounded lay 
around everywhere.   
 
But even then our situation was 
not very easy.  You know from 
our earlier letters that we lived 
for ha lf the week unregistered 
in the house of a party mem-
ber.   When the bombardment 
of Vienna began on the night of 
4 April 1945 , our noble com-
rade demanded that we leave 
the house immediately, as 
there was a danger that we 
could be hit by a missile inside 
it.  Then if our bodies were 
found, she would get into trou-
ble because she had not regis-
tered us.   We had to leave the 
house at ten o’clock at night 
and hang around for hours in 
the darkened city, in the middle 
of the bombing.  The public a ir 
ra id she lters were closed. It 
was a miracle that a she ll did 
not hit us.   
 
“From Friday 6 April onwards, 
Vienna was under fire.   On Fri-
day afternoon a she ll exploded 
near Hedy in the Kärtner-
strasse extension, so that she 
was quite deafened and could 
not hear properly for days.   
Something much worse hap-
pened to me .  On Saturday 
morning when I was on my way 
to find Hedy and discuss our 
further plans, I was hit by shel l 
splinters in the Ka iserstrasse .  
Two men next to me died im-
mediately.   I had wounds to 
the head, which though they 
looked very nasty, were quite 
harmless.   My trousers were so 
full of holes that after the lib-
eration I had to throw them 
away, but the leg wounds were 
a lso harmless. One piece of 
shell went through my shoe , 
wounded severa l toes and 
lodged in one.   It was months 
before it festered its way out. 
 
“On Tuesday 10 April, the west-
ern districts of Vienna were 
liberated.  On the 11th,  I had my 
wounds dressed at the hospi-
ta l.  On the 12 th I reported to 
the leaders of the resistance 
movement and obta ined food 
coupons, which we had man-
aged without for three years.  
(This was not easy to do, be-
cause of the bureaucracy.)  

Unfortunate ly there was practi-
ca lly nothing to get with them.   
And on the 13 th, while there 
was still fighting in the eastern 
part of the inner city, I started 
work in the Pa lace of Justice .  
At that time, the lawyer,  Dr. 
Paul Antosch, headed the judi-
ciary in the name of the resis-
tance movement.   He put me 
in charge of the property man-
agement of the Pa lace of Jus-
tice and of the preparation for 
compensation.  In the first ca-
pacity, I first of a ll had to ar-
range for the buria l of Nazi offi-
cia ls who had been shot dead 
during the fighting in the Pa l-
ace of Justice.  I had them tem-
porarily buried in the Schmer-
lingplatz.   Two weeks later the 
Provincia l Government took up 
office.  Since compensation 
was now assigned to the Minis-
try of Commerce I was no 
longer involved in it.  A few 
days later I was appointed 
head of the Commercia l Court, 
which was to be re-established.  
Since it is foreseen in the third 
draft of the third amendment of 
the compensation laws that the 
compensa t ion comm issions 
are to be affiliated to the Com-
mercia l Court, I could soon 
have to dea l with this matter 
officia lly. 
 
“In any case we are glad that 
we have a ll of this behind us.  
We continue to be amazed at 
how in spite of a ll our adven-
tures everything turned out wel l 
in the end. Perhaps Hedy is 
right when she says that the 
children must have prayed for 
us very diligently.” 
 
“… we are glad to be a live. We 
have become very modest over 
the years, and do not ask much 
of life.  The ma in thing is that 
we have news that a ll is wel l 
with our children, even if, apart 
from a letter from Annie, this is 
only indirect.  And what more 
could we wish for? After a ll that 
i s  r e a l l y  t h e  m a i n 
thing.” (Father, writing to Heinz 
and Va lly Marcus, 25 Novem-
ber 1945)  
 
A NEW LIFE 
The first news   
Since 1942 we had received no 
news, no further sign of life 
from our parents.  The last 
news had reached us indirectly 
via Brazil, where our godpar-
ents, Mr. and Mrs. Kris, had 

found refuge.   Then there was 
absolute silence, and we had to 
come to terms with the thought 
that perhaps we no longer had 
parents.   Neverthe less, we 
prayed for them every day, for 
somehow or other we still had 
hope.   
 
A cousin of my father, who had 
a lso fled to England, lived in 
Yorkshire.   We had contact with 
her by correspondence. Immedi-
ately after the war, she received 
a list of judges who had taken 
up office aga in in Austria. Our 
father’s name appeared on this 
list, and she informed us stra ight 
away.   About the same time, I 
received a Red Cross message 
from our parents.   It went to the 
convent where I had first been 
taken in and was sent on to the 
Sisters of Sion, where I had 
found a new place to stay.  Now 
we were rea lly sure that our par-
ents were a live.  
 
It was still sometime before we 
rece ived letters, and before our 
letters arrived in Vienna.   Some 
seem to have got lost in transit.   
The first to reach us was dated 
30 August 1945 .  “ Dear Franzi, 
We have a lready tried to write to 
you severa l times, but do not 
know if our letters have reached 
you.  So we want to tell you 
aga in, briefly, that for the last 
three years we have lived in Vi-
enna under fa lse names, so as 
to escape the persecutions of 
the Gestapo.  We could not 
therefore send you any mes-
sages through the Red Cross, 
because we could not give our 
address…But after a ll that we 
have been through, we are glad 
that we have escaped with our 
bare lives. As soon as we receive 
good news from our children, we 
will be perfectly happy.  I am 
sure, dear Franzi, that you will 
take the first opportunity to send 
us a few lines.  Please send this 
letter on to Annie stra ight away.  
We have written to you first, only 
because we assume that you 
are still at the same place as 
before, whereas we do not know 
whether Annie is perhaps at an-
other school now.  In the mean-
time we send her many, many 
kisses! 
 
“Our thoughts were a lways with 
you in those difficult years, and I 
believe that gave us the strength 
to overcome the most difficult 
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situations and to hold out to the 
end. Unfortunately, the number 
of friends and relatives who suc-
ceeded in doing the same is not 
very large.   So, dear Franzi, 
write as soon as possible and 
with as much detail as possible!  
We are interested in everything! 
With heartfelt hugs from your old 
Mummy, I am longing for news 
of you.  Heartfelt kisses from 
your Father.” 
 
The first letter that our parents 
rece ived from us was written by 
me in English on 28 . September 
1945: “My darling Mummy and 
Father, I received your letter 
from August 30 , to Francis, to-
day, and I am answering it 
stra ight away…   I have been 
praying very hard for you both 
and now at last my prayers are 
answered and I know you are 
safe.  By your letter I gather that 
Mitzi too is safe…. I do hope this 
letter will reach you safely then 
your happiness will rea lly be 
complete…Please mummy and 
father if you have got a photo of 
yourselves please do send us 
one….” 
 
In fact, it was to be more than 
two years before we rece ived 
photos of our parents. 
 
The first meeting   
Two years later we saw our 
mother aga in for the first time.  
She got herself sent to a confer-
ence in Paris as delegate of a 
club of professiona l women.  
There she succeeded in obta in-
ing a visa to come to England.   
 
For me, this first meeting was a 
very great disappointment.   Un-
til then, we still had not received 
any photograph of our parents.  
In my memory, or perhaps rather 
in my imagination, Mother was a 
beautiful woman, but in rea lity 
she was quite different, and 
moreover, much aged by time 
and deprivation.   My tears were 
not from excitement but from 
disappointment.  It took me a 
long time to rea lize that this 
woman rea lly was my mother, 
and to accept and love her.   It 
was just before Christmas 1947 .    
 
Soon afterwards, we fina lly re-
ceived a photo of Father.  This 
too was a disappointment for 
me, a lthough I had not expected 
so much this time.    
 

When I met Father aga in for 
the first time, I was on the con-
trary pleasantly surprised.   It 
was in the summer holidays of 
1948 .   Our parents were afraid 
to let us travel with our grey 
card over the demarcation line 
to Vienna, and therefore ar-
ranged a meeting in Styria .  
There we spent severa l pleas-
ant weeks together and then 
traveled together to Vienna .    
 
It was during this time that I 
began to get to know my par-
ents aga in, but this was not 
easy.  There was not only the 
difference in language, as both 
my brother and I could now 
speak only a little German, but 
a lso a menta lity that was for-
eign to us.   In Vienna I was 
above a ll horrified that we had 
to lock the door to the flat from 
the inside.   To be sure certa in 
anxieties still rema ined, which 
our parents could not get rid of 
so quickly. 
 
The post-war situation in Vi-
enna   
After the war my father re-
ce ived many letters from 
friends and re latives, asking 
him for lega l advice.  Some 
a lso considered returning, and 
thought that they would be wel-
comed with open arms in Vi-
enna .   In his replies, Father 
described the dismal situation 
in Vienna and advised against 
returning. In spite of the end of 
the war and of Nazi rule, anti-
Semitism was far from dead.   
My mother described the situa-
tion in a letter dated 31 . Janu-
ary 1947 , but which she did 
not send. “….  Every Aryan 
street sweeper is firmly con-
vinced that he is superior to the 
non-Aryan university professor.  
The fact that a couple of non-
Aryans have been given mana-
geria l positions, and that the 
so-ca lled “re ligious Jews” (but 
not the non-denominationa l 
and converted Jews) receive 
large donations of food and 
clothing through the “Joint”, 
increases anti-Semitism to boil-
ing point…” 
 
Return to Vienna   
We spent the summer holidays 
of 1948 and 1949 together in 
Styria and Vienna.   In 1948 
there was a lready ta lk of my 
returning to Vienna to my par-
ents.   At first I was enthusiastic 
at the idea , but then my par-

ents hesitated, as the situation 
in Vienna was still not so good, 
so I stayed two more years in 
England to finish my Higher 
School Certificate, the English 
School Leaving Exam.   
 
In the meantime, my brother 
had started his studies at Lon-
don University.  He saw it as his 
duty to take up a profession in 
England in order to prepare a 
home for our parents there.   In 
1950 he applied for British 
citizenship  and, in the summer 
of 1950 , could therefore not 
leave the country. 
 
I traveled a lone to Austria, this 
time not only for the holidays 
but to stay there.  I did not go 
quite voluntarily, for I felt my-
self to be English and not Aus-
trian, and wanted to stay in 
England to study.   Moreover I 
had noticed during both previ-
ous visits that my parents and I 
were rea lly quite strangers to 
each other.   My decision to 
enter the convent after my 
studies was quite firm at that 
time, so I returned to Vienna 
thinking that it would only be 
for a while, for then I would 
enter the convent and could go 
back to England. 
 
The four a ha lf years with my 
parents were not easy for any 
of us, and yet they were very 
good years.  We gradua lly grew 
closer to each other.   My par-
ents knew how to break down 
my initial constra int towards 
them by a llowing me a lot of 
freedom.  They were very dis-
creet and did not ask many 
questions. 
 
I studied mathematics and 
physics… Moreover after a year 
I began to a t t end the 
“Theologica l Lay Year, the theo-
logical course for lay-people on 
the Stefansplatz…. 
 
Entry into the Order   
After a year, I wrote to the 
Mother House in Paris that I 
wished to enter the congrega-
tion of “Our Lady of Sion.”  In 
answer I was told to contact a 
sister in Vienna.  I had imag-
ined that I could enter immedi-
ate ly, but I still had to wa it a 
long time.   At Christmas the 
Superior Genera l visited Vi-
enna .  She told me that I 
should wa it until the end of the 
year.  By then I had however 

a lready completed four semes-
ters of study and did not want to 
interrupt my course right in the 
middle.   I therefore decided to 
complete my studies after a ll, 
and did not enter the convent 
until later. 
 
I am often asked why I entered 
the Order.  I think that the roots 
go back a very long way, When 
we were children Father set 
great store on a ll of us going 
together every Sunday to Mass 
in the Burgkapelle, and he a lso 
usua lly sa id evening prayer with 
us.  In the first class of primary 
school I had as a catechist Fa-
ther Pena ll, who later became 
dean of the cathedra l.  I believe 
that he la id the foundation of my 
future ca lling.   
 
My brother becomes a priest   
In 1957 just before I was to take 
my first vows Mother died.   My 
brother and I be lieved that we 
had now to look after our father, 
but he stated categorica lly that 
he did not wish us to change our 
lives because of him.   He man-
aged to live a lone for the next 
thirteen years and saw to every-
thing himself.    
 
Since Father had declared that 
he would never go to England 
except for the baptism of his 
first grandchild my brother rea l-
ized that it was not necessary to 
establish a home for Father 
there.  He was thus free to follow 
the path which, as he says, he 
had wanted to follow since he 
was a boy, namely to become a 
priest.   
 
So instead of going to a baptism 
in England, my father traveled 
with me to Rome for the ordina-
tion and first Mass of my 
brother.  It was a happy journey 
for us…. 
 
Afterwards we had an audience 
with the Pope, who took our 
hands and sa id to my father, “in 
the name of the Church I thank 
you for giving both your children 
to the Church.”   
 
Father eventua lly became First 
President of the Supreme Court 
of Austria and died in 1970 
aged 83 .  My brother was parish 
priest of a large parish on the 
outskirts of London untill 1992 
and is now parish priest at 
Queensway in London.! 

M O T H E R ,  F A T H E R ,  B R O T H E R  A N D  I  
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of Hohenems in various ways.  
Annua l dues are $25 .  We 
hope to count on you to join 
today.  Dues can be sent to:  

 

PO Box 237 
Moorestown, NJ 08057-0237 

 

Any additiona l contribution 
you could make would be very 

During the meeting of the de-
scendants of Jewish families 
from Hohenems in 1998 , the 
idea to found the American 
Friends of the Jewish Mu-
s e u m Ho h e n e ms ,  I n c . 
emerged. The association 
unites the numerous descen-
dants living in America and 
supports the Jewish Museum 

much appreciated and thus 
enable the American Friends 
to continue to make impor-
tant contributions to the Mu-
seum at Hohenems as well as 
to other endeavors designed 
to contribute to knowledge of 
the Hohenems Jewish Com-
munity as it was when our 
ancestors lived there. ! 
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J O I N  U S  .  .  .   
B E C O M E  A  M E M B E R  A N D  L E T ’ S  K E E P  I N  T O U C H !  We’re on the Web! 

http: / / www.jm-hohenems.at 

The Jewish Museum of Hohenems, as a regional museum, remembers the rural Jewish com-
munity of Hohenems and its various contributions to the development of Vorarlberg and the 
surrounding regions.  It confronts contemporary questions of Jewish life and culture in 

Europe, the diaspora and Israel - 
questions of the future of Europe 
between migration and tradition. 
The museum a lso dea ls with the 
e nd o f  t h e commun i t y o f 
Hohenems, the regional Nazi his-
tory, the expulsion or deportation 
of the last members of the com-
munity, anti-Semitism and the 
Holocaust. Along with these frag-
mented lines of regiona l and 
globa l history, it is a lso devoted to 
the people and their histories and 
ma intains a re lationship to the de-
scendants of Jewish families in 
Hohenems around the world. 
 

The permanent exhibition in the 
Heimann-Rosentha l Villa , which 
was built in 1864 , documents the 
history of the Jewish community in 
Hohenems which existed for over 
three centuries until its destruction 
during the era of the Nazi regime. 
The museum offers annua lly 
changing exhibitions and an exten-
sive program of events. ! 

Enclosed please 
find cards that you 

may want to use to make a 
contribution to the AFJMH 

honoring a friend or relative. 
 


